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Thursday, March 9, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:35 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Please be seated.

Appearances:

Good morning, everyone.  Today we continue to sit in EB-2016-0152.  I notice you, Ms. Blanchard.  You're putting in an appearance for CME, are you?


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.


MS. LONG:  Welcome.

Preliminary Matters:

Mr. Keizer, any preliminary matters before we begin?


MR. KEIZER:  No preliminary matters from OPG, other than we did file our impact statement yesterday with respect to the rate-smoothing regulation.


MS. LONG:  Yes, I did see that last night, thank you.


Mr. Richler?


MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


After I briefly introduce Mr. Kenneth Roberts and ask him some questions about his experience and credentials, I will be seeking to have him qualified as an expert in project controls, risk management, and contracting in the context of construction projects, including megaprojects.


If I could please ask that Mr. Roberts be affirmed.

ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD STAFF - PANEL 1D
Kenneth Roberts; Affirmed.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Richler:


MR. RICHLER:  Good morning, Mr. Roberts.


MR. ROBERTS:  Morning.


MR. RICHLER:  You are a partner in the law firm Schiff Hardin LLP?


MR. ROBERTS:  I am.


MR. RICHLER:  You work in the firm's Chicago office?


MR. ROBERTS:  I split time between Chicago and New York.


MR. RICHLER:  And I understand you're the leader of the firm's construction law group?


MR. ROBERTS:  I chair that department, correct.


MR. RICHLER:  Can you tell us a little bit about Schiff Hardin and the construction law group in particular?


MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  Let me start by saying I'm fighting an upper respiratory infection, so if I don't hear a question, please -- I'm not trying to be cute.  With my flying it's havoc on my ears, and my voice comes in and out.  So again, I'm not trying to be cute.  I'm trying to get through this testimony.


Schiff is one of the oldest, if not the oldest, law firm in Chicago, started around the time of the Civil War.  It's equally divided between corporate and litigation.  The construction law group at Schiff has earned a lot of recognition throughout the industry and representing owners and large, complex projects.


MR. RICHLER:  How long have you been practicing law?


MR. ROBERTS:  A little bit over 32 years.


MR. RICHLER:  And you were admitted to the Bar in which jurisdictions?


MR. ROBERTS:  In Missouri and Illinois, and in the process of New York.


MR. RICHLER:  Mr. Roberts, do you have a copy in front of you of the report prepared by Schiff Hardin at the request of OEB Staff dated November 21st, 2016, which was filed as Exhibit M in this proceeding?


MR. ROBERTS:  I do.


MR. RICHLER:  Could you please turn to Appendix 1 of that document, starting at page 66, which is your resume?


MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.


MR. RICHLER:  I won't ask you about everything in here, but I wanted to touch on a few items.  First, looking at the third paragraph on page 66, it says you have represented owners, contractors, and architect engineers in construction disputes?


MR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.


MR. RICHLER:  You've also sat on and chaired several construction dispute resolution boards?


MR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.


MR. RICHLER:  Turning to the top of the next page, it says you lecture on alternative dispute resolution at Loyola law school and teach a graduate level course at Northwestern University's civil engineering school that includes alternative dispute resolution for engineers, correct?


MR. ROBERTS:  That's right.  Northwestern.  It's their program manage -- its program, and I am teaching it tonight after this.


MR. RICHLER:  What's the name of that course at Northwestern?


MR. ROBERTS:  It's like rate shifting and law engineering.


MR. RICHLER:  I gather from your CV that you have experience in a wide variety of construction projects, including power-plant construction projects?


MR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.


MR. RICHLER:  Can you give us one or two examples of an energy-related project that you've been involved in?


MR. ROBERTS:  We have a steady stream of it.  We just completed one of the largest wind-farm projects, contracting site, in the United States.  We're currently working on three gas-fired plants in the United States, all probably north of $600 million.  We've done several major solar projects, and we've also been involved in issues with a nuclear -- from contracts to disposal of the waste.


Any issue you can think of that impacts utility or energy company in one phase or the other in construction, I think the team has handled it over the last 20-plus years.


MR. RICHLER:  On pages 70 to 72 I see a list of your publications and speaking engagements.


MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.


MR. RICHLER:  And I won't go through them all.  Is there any one in particular that you would like to highlight for the Board as being particularly relevant to the issues in this proceeding concerning the Darlington refurbishment program?


MR. ROBERTS:  The strategies that mitigate risk and improve investment return and large capital projects that was in the Journal of Private Equity has gotten a lot of play by various board members.  The person that is the editor of the Journal of Private Equity was a professor that I had at the Booth School, Chicago Business School.  A number of board members and energy companies that either attended Booth or worked with the Chicago school have picked up that article, and I've been -- I've gotten a lot of invites to come to boards to talk about how they track large projects, how they verified the data from their team or the contractors.


MR. RICHLER:  On page 72 there's a list of awards and honours, and again, I don't propose to through them all, but I see that one of them is that you have been recognized as one of the best lawyers in America by U.S. News and World Report?


MR. ROBERTS:  Right.  Several years back they listed Schiff Hardin as the number-one law firm in the United States on construction matters.


MR. RICHLER:  You've also been recognized as an Illinois super-lawyer by Thomson Reuters?


MR. ROBERTS:  Yes, I have.


MR. RICHLER:  Dare I ask what an Illinois super-lawyer is?


[Laughter]


MR. ROBERTS:  It made my mother proud, and I'll leave it at that.


MR. RICHLER:  On the next page, page 73, there is the Board's Form A, signed by you?


MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.


MR. RICHLER:  You understand your duty to the Board including the duty to provide evidence that is fair, objective, and non-partisan?


MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.


MR. RICHLER:  Turning to page 4 of your report, it says here you have previously testified in regulatory proceedings in Missouri and Kansas.  Could you very briefly summarize what those proceedings were about and what your role was?


MR. ROBERTS:  KCPL, I believe, was doing the last large coal-fired plant in the United States.  It was -- certainly was the largest plant at that time.  It had split jurisdictions between Kansas and Missouri in terms of regulatory, so you had to testify in front of both.  And I provided testimony, and in essence construction prudence, that the executives based on the information they had at the time make the prudent decisions in terms of the construction spend.


I also in those proceedings would give the regulatory staff quarterly, maybe sometimes monthly, updates as to the status of the project.  They had access to me in terms of any questions they had as to where the project was, issues that occurred, and the testimony.  It was what's cited in the papers given.  It was what's cited in the papers given.  It was the accumulation of those projects and what the return on investment was going to be for KCPL as it related to that coal-fired plant being built.

MR. RICHLER:  On page 5, it says you also have experience with OPG in the Pickering A return to service.  Can you tell us a little bit about that?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  Unit 4.  Osborne was the chair of OPG at the time.  They were having significant problems.  They did a beauty contest as to who to bring in to do a root cause analysis as to the problems.

Schiff was selected, and we did an analysis and then a presentation that started with Osborne as the chair of OPG, but then was directed to the government.  That turned into what I refer to as the Epp report, take-up.  Prior to becoming chair of OPG, headed up that committee and Schiff provided testimony -- provided information to that committee.

MR. RICHLER:  To be clear, when you were asked by an intervenor in this proceeding about your current and past relationships with OPG, you explained that Schiff is not currently doing any work for OPG.  Is that right?

MR. ROBERTS:  Right.  We haven't done work for OPG, I believe, since 2006.

MR. RICHLER:  For this proceeding, Schiff Hardin was engaged by OEB Staff through a public request for proposal process, is that right?

MR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  There was an open competition and Schiff was selected?

MR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Madam Chair, I would now ask that the Board accept Mr. Roberts as an expert in project controls, risk management and contracting in the context of construction projects, including megaprojects.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Richler.  Does any party wish to challenge Mr. Roberts' qualifications in the area which Board Staff seeks to have him qualified as an expert?

I hear none.  Then the Board is prepared to accept Mr. Roberts as an expert in the areas of project controls, risk management, and contracting in the context of construction projects, including megaprojects.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Mr. Roberts, do you adopt this report filed as Exhibit M1 as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. ROBERTS:  I do.

MR. RICHLER:  Do you also adopt, as your evidence in this proceeding, the answers that Schiff Hardin provided to interrogatories?

MR. ROBERTS:  I do.

MR. RICHLER:  Mr. Roberts, I understand there's -- it emerged in preparing for today that in the answer to one of the interrogatories, part of the answer had inadvertently been omitted.

And, Madam Chair, I can advise that just this morning before the hearing started, Staff circulated a hard copy of a document headed "Form of weekly and monthly progress reports."

Perhaps I could ask if we can pull up the original interrogatory response, which was VECC number 2, that is Exhibit M1, tab 4.3, schedule VECC-006.  It's on the second page of this response at the bottom.  Thank you.

Mr. Roberts, you were asked in this interrogatory by VECC about what reporting should be provided to the OEB on the Darlington refurbishment program.  And as we can see here, your answer referred -- in paragraph B, five lines from the bottom, your answer referred to an attachment A.

I understand that inadvertently, that attachment was not filed along with this response.  Is that right?

MR. ROBERTS:  That's my understanding.

MR. RICHLER:  Madam Chair, in fairness, it appears that this may have well been an administrative mix-up on Staff's part, and I would have circulated this attachment earlier, but we only -- this problem only came to our attachment late yesterday.

Now that we have handed out this hard copy which is -- Mr. Roberts, I understand this attachment -- this is what you intended to include as attachment 1 to this response. Is that correct?

MR. ROBERTS:  Right.  It's what we thought we sent up as attachment 1 to the interrogatory.

MR. RICHLER:  Madam Chair, I would ask that we mark this document as Exhibit K7.1.

MS. LONG:  That's fine.  Let's do that. 
EXHIBIT NO. K7.1:  ATTACHMENT TO IR NO. VECC-006, DOCUMENT ENTITLED "FORM OF WEEKLY AND MONTHLY PROGRESS REPORTS"

MR. RICHLER:  Perhaps while we're here, can I just ask you, Mr. Roberts, what is this document?  Is it a generic form of reporting on projects?

MR. ROBERTS:  It's a form we have used on several projects.  It was not intended to be a form that we would, say, use exactly on this one.  It’s more of a generic type weekly/monthly progress report that Schiff has been asked over the years to prepare.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Are there any corrections you would like to make to your testimony?

MR. ROBERTS:  None that I'm aware of.

MR. RICHLER:  Could we turn to page 5 of your report?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. RICHLER:  Here you explain the purpose of your testimony.  Can you please take us through that briefly?

MR. ROBERTS:  So we were asked to do really three components inside about a two-month review.

So it was limited to really a review of process and procedures as opposed to the actual end-up answer or data of any one of these, but to review on a process and procedure basis the DRP risk and OPG's risk assessment with respect to industry best practices for projects the size and complexity of DRP; to review overall contract strategy, contract terms, contractual risk allocation between OPG and the contractors with respect to industry best practices for projects the size and complexity of the DRP; and the DRP as compared to other megaprojects, including but not limited to previous nuclear refurbishments.

MR. RICHLER:  On the bottom of this page, you summarize how you conducted your review.  Could you please briefly explain how you went about the task given to you by OEB Staff, including what documents or other materials you arrived on in arriving at your conclusions.


MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  So between September and October, once the release of confidentiality was filed, I'm guessing that Schiff received in excess of 10,000 pages of documents; it filled up a room.

We were to do a high level review of the written evidence -- emphasis on written evidence -- filed by OPG regarding the DRP and OPG's interrogatory responses, again in writing, so that our review is limited to OPG's actions documented in the written materials provided.

I want to emphasize that unlike Pat Galloway, who I believe testified yesterday, we didn't perform any witness interviews.  We did not independently verify the appropriateness, the sufficiency, correctness, or scope of the DRP of the cost estimate or the schedule.  It would have been impossible to do that in the time period and impossible to do it just based on the written documentation we looked at.

So we're not giving any predictions or assessments of the likelihood of success regarding OPG's ability to manage the program in the established budget, or complete the DRP on schedule.  We're looking at it from process and procedures perspective as to what they did based on written their evidence and risk assessment, and does that comport to industry best practices for projects of this size.

We looked at their contracting strategy, their contracting terms, their risk allocation, and does that comport to what we've seen within industry practice, and then we looked at the megaprojects just in terms of in general, what's the status of those meeting budget and schedule.


MR. RICHLER:  The only other thing I will ask you by way of direct examination is could you please provide a brief summary of your report and the conclusions you reached in respect of the Darlington refurbishment program?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  You know, I would start by saying, similar to Dr. Galloway -- I believe she testified yesterday -- I found that OPG has reasonably and prudently completed the definition phase of the DRP.  Specifically, my opinions included the following:  That the DRP risk and OPG risk assessment are in fact consistent with industry standard practices used by utilities and large capital construction projects of similar size and complexity; that OPG's planned project control system for the DRP to manage costs and schedule are consistent with industry standard practices used by utilities in large capital construction projects of similar size and complexity; that OPG's program and project management staffing plans and the written management policies and procedures for the DRP are consistent with industry standards used by utilities in large capital projects; that OPG's contracting strategy, contract terms, and contractual risk allocation between OPG and the contractors for the DRP are consistent with industry standards for rate shifting on projects of this size and complexity.

And then on to the last point, historically we saw and I think as well documented the vast majority of megaprojects, megaprograms are in fact over budget and over schedule.  And this is due to the sweeping scope, lead times, complexity, stakeholder involvement of these megaprojects, that they are just simply a different breed from the normal projects that, due the number of variables, it's not possible to create an apples-to-apples cost schedule or risk comparison to the DRP or really to any other nuclear refurbishment or other megaprojects.

While the majority of the megaprojects are ultimately over budget and experience delays, OPG has used industry standard methods to complete a very extensive project planning in an effort to minimize the chances -- or to maximize, rather, the chances of being successful in their execution phase.

While OPG's detailed planning during the definition phase of the DRP mitigates some risk that may arise during the execution of the DRP, no amount of planning has a guarantee of successful completion to stay within budget for Unit 2 refurbishment and the overall DRP.  OPG must demonstrate it is capable of implementing the risk management plans to effectively execute the major work bundles and comply with prudent management decision-making framework described in the testimony.

All megaprojects experience some form of cost and/or schedule issues, which may include but not limited to commercial challenges, changes, unexpected and high-impact events and/or delays.  It's not a question of whether these types of events will occur.  It's a matter of how OPG handles and responds to these issues when they arise.

During the execution phase of the DRP, OPG's successful risk management will depend on sufficient management staff to adhere to the DRP processes and procedures and execution of construction industry best practices, and to continuous and deliberate execution of the prudence decision-making framework with respect to project controls and commercial contract management.

In summary, a project like this is really two halves of a coin.  You have the planning phase and you have the execution phase.  We were asked how was OPG's planning as it relates to project controls, to their program project management staff and to their contracting, how was that as it relates to industry standard and the planning site.  And I would tell you that it meets industry standards, it meets the best practices that are out there.  It's one of the most thorough, in terms of time, in terms of effort, in the planning stage -- I think Pat Galloway testified to that -- that has been done.

So on the planning stage of the equation, I think that on almost any level you look at it, it's hard not to say that they haven't been prudent in the planning stage and the level of effort and the robustness of what they've undertaken.  That's what Schiff was able to ascertain from the written documentation provided by OPG.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Mr. Roberts.  Madam Chair, I have no further questions for the witness.  He is now available for cross-examination.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  Just before Ms. Blanchard begins, Mr. Keizer, I just want to ask you, the filing of K7.1 does not cause you any problems, does it?  I've reviewed it this morning.  I think you're up after the break and should have adequate time to review it?

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, no, it doesn't cause a concern.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  Ms. Blanchard.


Cross-Examination by Ms. Blanchard:

MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Good morning, Mr. Roberts.

MR. ROBERTS:  Good morning.

MS. BLANCHARD:  My name is Emma Blanchard, and I'm here on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

So just starting off with your experience.  I think you've canvassed that quite thoroughly with Mr. Richler.  But I guess the first question I have is, in your report you talk about how one of the mandates that you often have is acting as the eyes and ears of a corporate board on major projects; is that accurate?

MR. ROBERTS:  I've done that on a number of occasions.  That's true.

MS. BLANCHARD:  And so in that capacity you'd be acting for the owner and assisting with the oversight and execution of the projects?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes, and an example would be when originally hired by OPG and Unit 4 was brought in at the behest of the board of Osborne to figure out the root cause of what happened on 4, that project started with a direct report to the board that then morphed into reporting to the government, what became what I call the Epp report.

MS. BLANCHARD:  And would you consider that a megaproject or a megaprogram?

MR. ROBERTS:  Unit 4, I would.

MS. BLANCHARD:  And I think your evidence this morning was that a megaproject or a megaprogram is a different breed.

MR. ROBERTS:  It's different than your normal, let's say capital improvement project that most owners, you know, engage in.  So we have on -- Schiff as a group, we do really three things on a regular basis.  We have a procurement group that works with owners and literally every aspect of procurement you can think of, from getting out the standard form, short forms, to major projects.  We have a group that does the project controls:  Where is a project, what's going in on it.  We have another group that does ADR.  When there is a dispute, one of our hallmarks is over the last 20-some years on all our projects they haven't gone to litigation.  We've been able to keep everybody at the business table to resolve those disputes.

As part of -- as part of the procurement side of the equation, we deal in contracts that could be as small as 25,000 to a capital improvement project that's 50 or 60 million that's important to that entity, but that's entirely different animal than a project that's going to go multi-years and be billions of dollars.

I'm doing a pharmaceutical plant right now that is -- you know, it needs to be done in the next, you know, let's say the next 18 months.  If that project is not done it will have significant impact to that company's bottom line in terms of a hot drug that they need to be able to manufacture more of.  There's a lot of pressures.  There's a lot of issues in dealing with the regulatory environment of how you make a pharmaceutical drug.  But it's going to be a sprint compared to what OPG is doing in a project of this magnitude, both in dollars and in terms of years.  That was the point I was trying to make.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So many of the interrogatories that were put to you were attempting to understand what you meant by industry standards.

MR. ROBERTS:  Right.

MS. BLANCHARD:  And I think there were various answers provided, but you listed a range of different sources for that, and I think your evidence was partly, it comes from your experience.  Is that correct?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think that -- I think my testimony, Pat Galloway's testimony on this, is really identical in the sense that if you go to a specific issue, cost, schedule, there are industry groups out there that have publications on a specific topic, but if you're talking on a broad range of overall project, you know, if you're looking at not just the hand, not just the kidney, but the entire body, I think as a general statement, it's based on what is done in the industry, what is deemed to be best practices within that industry based on experience.

MS. BLANCHARD:  In your report, and I think even now just in your testimony, you referenced this iron rule that all megaprojects are over budget and over time.

And so in that context, is it appropriate to apply an industry standard that evolved in the context of -- I'm going to call it a standard construction project, and then transpose that into a megaproject context?

MR. ROBERTS:  I guess I don't understand the question.  Our testimony was that the vast majority ask of megaprojects are over budget and over schedule.

Having said that, within those -- just because something is over budget or over schedule doesn't mean that people and lessons learned from those projects don't develop here as in fact the best practices to use.

What happened on Unit 4 from the Epp report to Unit 2 and the Manley report was in fact the lessons learned of what not to do on Unit 2 from what was learned on Unit 4.  And I would say within the industry, that is common practice.

So just to give you specifically in the nuclear industry, by happenstance, unfortunately, I was at the Fort Lauderdale airport doing -- I chair the dispute review board for that expansion, which is about a billion dollars and we were there during the shootings.

I couldn't get home and one of the top nuclear officials that is now doing a lot of international work happened to be in Florida and said, come up to my home, and he happened to have probably five or six either current or former CNOs from around the world in his house, many I have worked for.  And it's a very common -- if you listen to them at the dinner table in the nuclear industry, you're constantly learning from what someone else has done and what worked and didn't work.  And those lessons learned become in essence the standards for best practice.

So that's very similar to what I would tell you in the construction industry on construction prudence is that you do see what works and what doesn't, what has a more propensity for success if it's applied, and that becomes what I think either myself or Dr. Galloway would then say is best practice, you know, having a robust detailed schedule prior to the start of construction.  Going out and looking at other projects and doing lessons learned, putting that as part of your risk registry, putting that as part of your action plan.

All of that -- if you do that on a procedural basis, that would be considered to be following best industry practice.

MS. BLANCHARD:  What I was trying to get to, and maybe the question wasn't clear enough, but is there a subset of industry practices that are specifically applicable to megaprojects or megaprograms that are distinct from the industry standards that might apply to what you would describe as a large capital project?

MR. ROBERTS:  I don't know if they’re are a subset, but clearly a schedule on a megaproject defined as something that is, let’s say, over a billion, over multiple years, the schedule -- the longer you go, the more critical schedule becomes.  The longer the project goes, your cost analysis, what went into that cost analysis becomes more critical because the longer the project, it usually means the complexity is bigger.  And when the complexity is begin, it usually means there’s more variables.

So instead of somebody juggling two balls, I would say on a megaproject, they’re juggling seven.  Keeping track of those seven balls, the dexterity and the planning on how you would juggle those is a different animal.  Hopefully, that answered your question.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, I'll move on to another area.  I want to take you to page 11 of your report.

On page 11 of your report, you start by saying that industry standard risk management is related to the regulatory prudence standard, and you say that the key to a risk prudence evaluation of all management decisions throughout the course of a construction project is whether the decision-making process over the execution of the project is sound and reasonable.

And then you offer us this process, this four step process which, I understand your evidence to be, this is the framework within which we should consider whether a decision is prudent from a construction risk management perspective.  Is that accurate?

MR. ROBERTS:  I would modify it slightly to say that in most, if not all of the regulatory proceedings that I've been involved in, or any clients would have been subjected to, the standard on a prudence risk evaluation isn't an after-the-fact did it work out, but rather it's entirely based on the decision-making of the owner at the time of the decision based on what information did they have or should they have had, how did they come to that decision, and was that decision, based on that information that they had or should have had, was that reasonable.

And so that's the context in which -- that's the context in which I deal or I frame how do you determine if something is in a construction environment made prudently.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So one of the things I'm interested in exploring with you today is practically how the Board should use this framework that you propose, and possibly, if you will agree that it translates, if your -- if you were, for example, operating in your capacity as the eyes and ears for an owner, I'm assuming that your answer would be this framework would also be something that you would be looking at in terms of how are all the management decisions below the Board level occurring.

Is that correct, that this is the framework you would apply in this context?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MS. BLANCHARD:  And this is the framework that you are recommending to the Board as being how you would assess the prudence of risk management decisions?

MR. ROBERTS:  I'm not sure I would frame it how you just stated it.  We answered the question as to what are the general industry standards to how a utility appropriately manages the risk.  It's up to the Board to   decide what they want to do.  I wouldn't presuppose to tell the Board what to do.  But in the general context of what is the industry standard, it's what you just articulated.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So I think what I want to do then is drill down a little bit in how, practically speaking, we would actually apply this framework.

So you've got these four stages trying to assess whether a decision is reasonable.  I'm in the first stage, data development.  So what type of information are you gathering to confirm that the data was reliable?

MR. ROBERTS:  It's all project data.  It's data that in the process and procedures that OPG is implementing, it’s data that they're tracking.  And that was -- if you looked at what we had sent as an attachment that was referenced at the beginning, just the weekly/monthly progress reports where you would -- you know, overall project status, where are you in the major milestones; the milestones are typically called out in the contract.

Where are you on earned value summaries and conclusions, where are you in terms of identifying problems during the period, anticipated problems coming up. Where are you on summary of financial reporting, schedule reporting, health safety, you know, related incidents, accidents, quality control issues in terms of conformance, non-conformance, you know, were you specifically on schedule, your plan level, actual, or, you know, what -- maybe your SPI.  It's, where are you on the engineering deliverables, where are you on the procurement status, long lead items, you know, where are you on materials received, stalled, and stored, subcontractor issues.

In over words, the -- and where are you on financial summaries, permitting, if that's applicable -- I'm not sure it would be in this case, but in many cases permitting has been an issue.

There are normal -- there's normal metrics that the owner is requiring of the contractor to be reporting on that that data isn't in and of itself a snapshot, a Polaroid, of where that project is.  And so that is the type of data that we're talking about.

And as a general statement, when we look through the policies and procedures, OPG was in fact requiring that of the contractors, and assuming they followed their own policies and procedures internally, they're going to have those mechanisms of tracking that data development.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So that was a long answer, but can I summarize then that you'd basically be looking at what you are recommending in this Exhibit K7.1 as being, if you had -- this would be a bit of a summary of what you would expect to see getting through this data development step of your process?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes and no.  I mean, that was -- we were asked to give an example.  Again, I didn't say it was for this specific project, but something similar to that, yes.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And if something in this information is inaccurate -- so I'm just going to pick an example at random.  Maybe it's a bad example, but I'm just on the first page of K7.1.  So I'm getting this report, planned goals and accomplishments, says we've completed this scope of work, but actually, that's not accurate.  So there's something wrong with the data.

MR. ROBERTS:  Right.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So what does that mean for your framework?  Is that -- does that...

MR. ROBERTS:  Well, so on these projects I think the difficulty is the amount of data that's coming out of the project is like a fire hose, the stream of data, and it's trying to pick which ones are you looking at, and in reality, a lot of times there is competing facts.  It's not clear from the picture from the data exactly what is the issue where the project is.

So it's not -- on a multi-year project it wouldn't be uncommon for in fact on a month -- you know, on a monthly versus a monthly report to in fact have incorrect data.  You thought something was done and it wasn't.  You know, we thought we finished it, something was missing, they had to go back.

I wouldn't characterize that as necessarily inaccurate, as long as it was caught.  Bu it's -- so I'm -- if they weren't tracking earned value, if they weren't tracking schedule progress, that's the type of data that we're talking about that typically we're accustomed to seeing on a prudence review of someone saying, you should have been tracking that, and the fact that you didn't, you know, we're going to hold you accountable.

It's not necessarily, was each and every piece of data collected on a monthly basis, is that a hundred percent accurate?  You would expect that over the course of a year on a project like this that, yeah, they do get it right, that they're not consistently wrong.  But in fact, on a project of this size, this magnitude, it would not surprise me that if you went back and did an audit of every report that comes out -- I just wanted to be clear that there could be data that's reported in month two that later is corrected in month six.  And as long as it's not having a material impact on the schedule or on the analysis, you know, I would say that's a no harm, no foul.


But I wanted to be clear that if I went back and did an autopsy on the last 12 projects that were over a billion, and I looked at the data that's coming out of the owner and the contractor, there's plenty of data that gets reported on a monthly basis that does in fact at some point needs to be corrected.

The question is, did it impact someone's judgment, did they make a bad judgment because that data was incorrect.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So I'm going to try for a yes/no question, but if there is a serious material problem with the data, would that then -- would that mean you're not getting a check in step one of your framework?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.


[Laughter]

MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MR. ROBERTS:  I'm the only male in my house.  Two daughters and my wife.  My dog's neutered.  I can answer yes and no.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So the next question:  To whom and when was data transmitted?  So actually, I'm going to back up quickly and ask you this question, which is, would you agree that this framework that you're proposing would apply both on a micro level and on a macro level in a project?  And what I mean by that is, you have a project with a whole bunch of little components, and under those little components there are smaller components.

Do you -- could you apply it to each small component of the project as well as -- would it -- does it expand and contract?  Does the same thing work if you're looking at one component of a project or at the overall?

MR. ROBERTS:  Let's start with the overall, because that's where it's traditionally used, was the people making the key decisions, the strategic decisions.  That's what it's aimed at.  To make those key strategic decisions, though, information needs to flow up from the floor of the project.

But to answer your question, it traditionally is aimed at those that are making the key strategic decisions.  Did they get the data, and when was it communicated, so were they allowed to make a prudent decision?  But you have to get the data from the shop floor to be able to make a prudent decision.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So I'm going to the next bullet now, analysis.  So we've done data, we've done who gets it.

MR. ROBERTS:  Right.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Now we're at analysis.  So you're the eyes and the ears.  You're reporting to the board.  Are you -- is someone actually producing an analysis of, this is what we knew, these were -- is there something -- what do you look at?

MR. ROBERTS:  It's really is there a process where that data is now coming up from the project?  Do you have a process where you have a robust discussion of what does that data mean?  Does it impact the decision we're about to make?  Is there a reason we should do a pause?  So it really goes to, do you in your process and procedures, you know, have a stop where people are on a routine basis going to be analyzing the data that's coming in on the project to make sure that everything is copasetic, that it's going down the right path.

Are there decisions that we need to be taken out or looked at?  So it really is going to the robustness of the decision-making process in these large projects.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  But when you're the eyes and the ears, you're not actually a decision-maker at that point.

MR. ROBERTS:  No.

MS. BLANCHARD:  You're the guy who's saying things are going off the rails or they're not.  Is that accurate?

MR. ROBERTS:  Sure.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So acting in that role, what are you getting in terms of this analysis piece?  Is it some kind of chart which says we knew A, B, and C, and these were the options, or what do you actually have to be able to understand what the analysis was if you're in that role?

MR. ROBERTS:  It's typically -- well, so I'm just going to go back to the Epp report, the Unit 4, where they -- one of the conclusions was that they didn't have adequate plans and procurement of the engineering.  There was data coming in where they knew that they were behind in engineering.  They knew that the lack of engineering packages was interfering, was impacting Unit 4.  They had that data.  There was no analysis by that team as to what does -- what is the impact of the late engineering packages doing to this project.

They had data that said we're late on engineering packages, and there was no -- there wasn't any robust discussion as to what the impact of that is, what should we be doing.  That's an example of where there was either no analysis, or poor analysis based on the data that was coming out of the project site.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So you would have received some kind of report that would have -- well, in that one, maybe it was simpler because it was easy to flunk them on that; there was no analysis.

But if there was an analysis and it was flawed, is that something that you would get in a report, or do you have to interview people, or?

MR. ROBERTS:  It depends on the project and what our role is.  I was just on a project where they were slipping on their schedule performance, their SPI, and there were key milestone dates were missing or that were in danger, and there was a discussion with the decision makers and contractors as to this data, this is the trend, does anyone disagree.

So we had hard data as coming out of the project.  I had the lead construction manager for the owner.  I had the three lead owners of the contractors, and we're looking at it and saying does anyone seeing this turning around, is this schedule going to be missed.  And there were people saying no, we're going to make it.

And it’s like, all right, what the data that we're missing, that I'm not seeing.  Tell me how you're going to make it?  Is there some low hanging fruit where all of a sudden, earned value is going to shoot up because it's easier to do.  Is there something about the upcoming work that we're not appropriately handling.  And that occurs.

I had another project that was seriously behind schedule, but the schedule was heavily based on when the product goes in.  There a is a key component that all of a sudden, when that went in, their schedule was going to jump 20, 30 percentage and it would look very different, and it was based on how the contracted value earned progress.  So those components were a real driver.

The answer to your question is it depends, in terms of what our role is.  There's a lot of situations where I'm in the thick of it, and I'm looking at data and having actual meetings with the key contributors saying are you looking at this data.  This doesn't look good to me, or this looks okay, does anybody see a problem.

And that's the analysis that I'm talking about.  Is there somewhere in the process and procedures that the organization has set out to study the data that's coming out of the project, and to make sure there's some analysis that you're making an informed and prudent decision as to how those -- how the project is moving forward.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  I'm going to try for another yes or no.

MR. ROBERTS:  Okay.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Material failure to either identify a significant trend in the data or analyze it properly, that would that would be what -- that would be something that would not be a passing grade on the analysis?

MR. ROBERTS:  That would be historic basis saying you weren't prudent in your decision-making, assuming that you know or should have known about that data, and you should know or should have been able to make those decisions.

MS. BLANCHARD:  In terms of -- well, I want to just follow-up on that qualification.

Would you agree that most of the data that you should know, you should know in advance of execution that you should know it.  That was -- let me try again.

We know today what the key data points are by and large for the DRP, because those are in the risk register, because those are part of this robust planning process, so --


MR. ROBERTS:  Let me stop you.  The risk register is tool, a management tool that’s saying that on this type of project, this is what we're predicting we could encounter.

That's an entirely different beast than when you go out in the field and now those contractors are really opening something up, and seeing in real life what they're getting into, when in real life you're seeing what is the ability on what time to actually do that activity.

So your progress in actually doing the work versus what you analyzed and projected, that's not one and the same.  You could have a really good risk registry, but still be having data that's causing or impacting the project, and that data is showing your not making schedule, you're having issues.  That doesn't mean your risk registries are bad or that you failed.

MS. BLANCHARD:  In advance of execution, you should know what data is being collected and reported throughout?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So I want to turn to your discussion about the heavy water facility, which is on page 15 of your report.

That component of the project is in the execution phase, although it's not completed.  And OPG, in their filed evidence, has provided an explanation of why there's a 247 percent variance over the original cost.

But in your evidence, you say that OPG's evidence does not contain enough information to determine whether OPG followed the prudent management decision-making framework.

So you've read the filed evidence.  You have everything that OPG has filed with respect to that project, and you're saying I don't have enough based on what was filed to understand, or to give you an opinion on whether, at least to date, they're on four squares with that four-step process.

MR. ROBERTS:  On that issue, correct.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So did you ask for that information?

MR. ROBERTS:  We participated with staff and interrogatories, and we listened to the technical information.  Keep in mind -- well, let’s put it in the perspective of well over ten thousand pages of documents that we're reviewing in two months.

We noticed that there was an issue on the heavy water.  We looked at the documents that were associated with it, and we didn't see a root cause analysis.  We didn't see any in-depth analysis.  And I'm simply telling you that based on what we had available to us in the written record, I could not give you an opinion as to the cause or the issues associated with that particular issue.


As a general statement, what I think that Dr. Galloway testified and OPG said is their processes and procedures, their gate decisions weren't fully operational at that time, that what they have now in place is different than what was in place for the heavy water.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  So just focusing on that, as I understand your evidence, you looked at it.  And is your evidence that you didn't ask for more than what was in the filed evidence on that issue?  You saw an issue, but you didn't ask for more?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think we were looking really at the evidence that was given to us, and making a robust determination based on that.

And we didn't have -- so your question is in the two month time period where we also have to write the report, did we see it.  We had one opportunity, I believe, with staff to ask questions.  I don't know whether we caught this issue, whether it was before or after the interrogatories.  But I don't think there was an interrogatory from Staff specifically on the heavy water.

If it was, it was answered, I think, the way that Galloway answered, and that was the processes and procedures weren't established at the time.

So I can't specifically answer your question as to whether Schiff made a specific request to staff on that issue.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Based on what -- so you can't give an opinion on whether or not it was prudent decision-making relating to the heavy water cost increase overall.

But based on what you did see in the written evidence, you saw that there was inadequate design.  You saw that there was inaccuracy in the original cost estimate, maybe a misunderstanding about the distinction between a class 3 or 4 estimate and a class 2 estimate.

Would you agree that that type of issue sounds like a problem with data?

MR. ROBERTS:  Number one, OPG stated cost increases resulted from inadequate design and accuracy original cost estimate, you know, increased risk of a first-of-a-kind design.  This is stuff that they were identifying themselves.  I'm not in a position to offer an opinion on that.  I really am not.

MS. BLANCHARD:  And, well, I was going to ask you the same question on analysis, but I think maybe your answer will be there was none in the written filing; is that correct?

MR. ROBERTS:  Right.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So when VECC in their IR number 2 asked you, well, why can't you -- why can't you tell us whether the heavy water plant -- the heavy water facility was -- that cost overruns were prudently -- were the result of prudent management decisions, you referred us back to this three -- this four-part framework.

MR. ROBERTS:  Right.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So if you were acting as OPG's eyes and ears on that project, would you have been asking for all of this stuff?

MR. ROBERTS:  If I were trying -- if I were trying to make -- if I thought -- if I thought the cost overrun and the heavy water facility was indicative of maybe other problems that we're going to incur, I would have probably engaged in trying to walk through what was the data, when was it known, how was it disseminated, what decisions were made, or was it, you know, for -- was it just a scope bust?  Was it -- did we have a bust in our original estimate?  Sometimes the answer is that simple, right?  Somebody just -- if it's a first of its kind, they didn't get the cost correct.  If it's a first of its kind, the design wasn't as robust as it needed to be.  It happens.  Especially on a first of a kind.

But you'd want -- in essence, to answer your question, you'd want it -- if you really wanted to drill down, you'd want to know the root cause for that overage and you'd want to know, was there any data available that somebody could have made a better informed decision than they did that would have either decreased the cost or the time to carry out that task.

MS. LONG:  Ms. Blanchard, I'm just doing a time check with you.

MS. BLANCHARD:  I'm sorry, I appreciate I'm a little bit over.  I still do have a few more questions.  Maybe ten more minutes.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Well, I'm going to hold you to the ten minutes, okay?

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Mr. Roberts then, let's see if I can shorten this up a bit.

Okay.  At what point during the execution -- so I guess your evidence in part has been timely reaction.  So there's -- if there is a problem, you're identifying it quickly and you're reacting, so at what point during the execution phase do you start getting indices that a project is being successfully executed or not?  What would prompt you to re-examine -- what would be a warning sign?  What would trigger that for you?

MR. ROBERTS:  That's a pretty wide open question.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Umm...

MR. ROBERTS:  If the project is not meeting schedule, right, so if it's falling behind schedule, clearly that's a red flag.  If the schedule has key milestones that aren't being met, clearly that's a red flag.  If the -- if the contractor's cost to perform the work, even if it's still on the contractor's side of the dime -- in other words, you don't believe there is a change order coming or a claim -- if there is CPA, the cost to perform the work, it's taking them a lot more effort than anticipated, you know, those are classic red flags.  If there's long lead items that aren't on-site when you would expect them to that could impact the critical path, that would be an issue.  If there were nine critical activities on the schedule and those aren't being performed and are creating a bow wave and aren't adequately being addressed, at some point non-critical activities can become its own critical path.  Those would be some just big-picture highlights that if you walked into a project and you wanted to say, what's the health that you'd be looking at.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  I'm going to jump ahead to another area, which is, you expressed some concern in your report about the fact that OPG plans to use an internal audit process.  Is that --


MR. ROBERTS:  What page are you on?

MS. BLANCHARD:  I'm at page 28 now of your report.  And I'm sort of halfway -- almost at the bottom of the page:

"PG is planning to use oversight from internal audit."

And maybe I put it too strongly by saying "expressed some concern", but you said...

MR. ROBERTS:  I don't -- I'm not aware that I can express any concern --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.

MR. ROBERTS:  -- that they're using an internal audit.  It was merely, is OPG's use of audit and oversight within industry standards, and the answer was yes.  Not a concern over the use of an audit or oversight.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So when you go on to say in the multi prime context:

"Executive management may recognize the need to adopt a structured approach to the management of the contractors to ensure heavy owner involvement."

I took that to mean that's not what they have now.  But maybe I misunderstood that.  What did you mean by "adopt a structured approach to the management of the project"?

MR. ROBERTS:  Management of the contractors.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Sorry, management of the contractors?

MR. ROBERTS:  It was merely a statement on the -- well, first, their audit and oversight we say is within industry standards.  I want to be clear on that.  But it's -- it was merely a statement that on these types of projects how you were managing the contractors needs a heavy owner involvement.  You can't just rely on the contract terms and conditions.  The contract in and of itself isn't going to deliver the goods.  It's that ability to meet with the contractors to go over the data and to ensure that the project is in fact functioning as it intended to function.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So your evidence is that they do have a structured approach?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think they do.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  But it doesn't involve --


MR. ROBERTS:  Again, the report is based on the planning side of the equation, and I don't know what they're doing in the execution, right?  That's after we wrote the report.  How they plan to operate the project, how they plan to manage the contractors, there is a very structured approach.  There is on paper an attempt to make sure that there is heavy owner involvement.  Now they just have to execute on that written approach.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And so when you go on in that paragraph over the next page and you talk about supplementing the team with additional resources if they don't think the project team has enough internal resources, I took that to mean external resources, external oversight.  Is that not what you meant?  You're talking about supplementing the team with additional resources.

MR. ROBERTS:  It merely is a statement that -- again, it's talking about audit and oversight, and it's just the comment that it's -- you know, project's a living, breathing beast.  It's not stationary.  It's not static.  And so -- and the concept of an audit, my experience has been a lot of those are in fact static.  It's almost like an autopsy.  This is a live body.

And in terms of really going to oversight, it was just saying that it's important that the management -- executive management recognizes that if for some reason, you know, they don't have enough in terms of the size or they don't
-- it's turning out in the field to be more complex, there is nothing wrong -- it's very standard in the industry to supplement the team.

It wasn't suggesting that they needed to.  It wasn't suggesting that we made any conclusions as to the staffing.  We're merely saying it's that flexibility and understanding that it's a living document that -- a living project, that it's changing, and that you need to be looking at the data and be ready to make changes based on that data, you know, including supplementing your team if need be.  That was the intent of the comment.

MS. BLANCHARD:  So cognizant of the time, I'm jumping ahead to page 57 of your report, where you talk about how different -- different regulators have attempted to basically find a balance between giving certainty to the utility but also protecting ratepayers from the risk of what's described as runaway costs on, in this case, the Vogtle project.  So that case the Board, or the Georgia Public Utility Commission, appointed an independent construction monitor.

In your opinion, would such a mechanism be appropriate for the DRP?

MR. ROBERTS:  I wasn't asked to give that opinion.  Number one, I don't think I used runaway cost.

MS. BLANCHARD:  That's just in -- that's at page 57.  I guess -- let me just see here.

MR. ROBERTS:  We were commenting on what other projects did, and we were providing this is what they did at Vogtle.

MS. BLANCHARD:  But on page 57, you say:
"As a result, the reporting and clawback provisions helped protect the ratepayers from the risk of runaway costs on the Vogtle project."

MR. ROBERTS:  That was -- right.  That was the position that was taken by the Georgia commission, that that measure and the clawback provisions were --


MS. BLANCHARD:  You didn't give that opinion in your report.  But can you give it now?  Would that type of measure, having an independent -- what do they call them -- construction monitor, would that be appropriate for the DRP?

MR. ROBERTS:  It certainly has been used within the industry.  As I sit here right now, I have not been asked to give an opinion and that's outside of my scope to be saying that for this project at this stage, whether I think it needs one or it doesn't.

It is a mechanism that certainly has been used in the industry to aid bodies like the OEB; that's a fair statement.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  I think I'm out of runway, so I'll leave it there.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Blanchard.  Mr. Poch?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Good morning, Mr. Roberts.  I'm David Poch and I represent the Green Energy Coalition.  There are a few points that you touched on this morning that I want to come back on.


First, with respect to the heavy water at the D2O facility, you recited how OPG themselves have said --


MR. ROBERTS:  Can you go back to the page of that testimony?

MR. POCH:  It’s not a page of testimony.  It was your comments a few moments ago to Ms. Blanchard, where you explained that --


MR. ROBERTS:  Page 15 of the -- that's where the heavy water is submitted.

MR. POCH:  But this morning, you explained that OPG themselves have acknowledged that they went into that project without complete engineering, and you talked how Pegasus observed that as well and that hopefully they're doing a better job now.

I appreciate we can't know at this stage what the implications of that will be, in terms of the cost of that and the schedule for that project.  I think we can predict on the cost and schedule, but we can't know.

But isn't it clear from everything you've said about getting the process right and being best practice and industry standards and how that's a prudent approach, that prima facie they were imprudent on how they approached that project?

MR. ROBERTS:  I honestly could not make that conclusion based on what I have, all the experience that I've had in the industry.

Merely because something is -- in fact, I’ll only go a step farther.  Most of the jurisdictions, most of the boards that I have appear in front of, they don't look at the mere fact that it was over budget or it missed schedule as the prima facie evidence that it was in fact an imprudent decision.

MR. POCH:  I'm not asking to you do that.

MR. ROBERTS:  Maybe my hearing is off.  I thought that was exactly what you asked me.

MR. POCH:  I was asking you to conclude, based on OPG's admission that they went into that project without inadequate engineering, that that was imprudent.

MR. ROBERTS:  I can't tell you that.  That's after the fact.  What we state on page 15 is OPG stated that these costs resulted from inadequate design and accuracy in the original cost estimate.

The question you would have to ask them is when did they catch it, and what should they have been able to do.  That's the question.  If they thought -- if based on the data they had at the time, they thought they had an adequate design, then no, you wouldn't come to the conclusion that you just asked.

MR. POCH:  You gave some caveats this morning that you were not verifying the price or the scope and so on.  Your review wasn't intended to go that deep.  You're really commenting on the mechanisms.

MR. ROBERTS:  Processes and procedures, correct.

MR. POCH:  Would you agree for a project of this scale, particularly a nuclear project of this complexity, to give that kind of a verification would be a major effort?  You would need assistance from independent experts on subject areas?


This is -- you're not, and wouldn't purport to be, an expert on nuclear metallurgy or what have you?

MR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.

MR. POCH:  To your knowledge, Pegasus didn't bring to bear that kind of review either?

MR. ROBERTS:  Not that I'm aware of.

MR. POCH:  And we have a little history in Canada where AECL actually built a couple of reactors recently, and found that they couldn't control them properly and had to abandon them.  And that group has since been swallowed by SNC, which is a contractor in this case.

You'd agree in the nuclear world, one error can be critical to the success of a project.  This is not building a house, where you can go in and change a steel beam on every occasion?

MR. ROBERTS:  I actually have a case where they have to change a steel beam in a house; I wouldn't say that's easy.

MR. POCH:  But it’s possible.

MR. ROBERTS:  I don't know; it's a big beam.

MR. POCH:  But you'd agree that the nature of nuclear megaprojects -- it's a pretty special case where one slip-up can be fatal, or near fatal?

MR. ROBERTS:  It's very complex and you never know which issue could trip up the schedule.  I would agree with that.

MR. POCH:  At Page 7 of your evidence, you say:
"Due to a number of variables, it's not possible to create an apples-to-apples cost schedule or risk comparison of the DRP to other nuclear refurbishment, or other megaprojects."

Can I take it from that that takes this kind of project and puts it in a different class from the projects that regulators like this Board typically see, whether they're approving a transmission line or a gas pipeline where they've had experience in these projects, there’s lots of industry experience with them, they have a good sense of what might go wrong, the costs are fairly well known and the engineering is predictable.

Agreed?   We're in a different category here?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think that's probably a fair characterization.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  You go on in that same paragraph to say you observed that the majority of megaprojects are ultimately over budget and experience delays.

Would you agree that on the nuclear side, that that may even be a bit of an understatement, that nuclear megaprojects in particular have had a lot of problems around the world?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. POCH:  You then seem to equate meeting industry standards with, in some sense, reasonableness or prudence  -- whichever word you want to apply at this stage of the game.  And I understand you've said -- you have been very clear.  You're not judging how they're going to execute the project, just thus far.  Have I got that right?

MR. ROBERTS:  I really don't understand the question.

MR. POCH:  Meeting industry standards is ultimately your test of --


MR. ROBERTS:  You're looking at the last sentence:

"While the majority of megaprojects are ultimately over budget and experience delays, OPG used industry standard methods to complete extensive project planning,"

Yes.  And Galloway testified to this, that the robustness in terms of time and effort that OPG has put into this project is significantly above and beyond what most of these other megaprojects have done.

So on the planning stage and the process and procedure side of the equation, it is a very sound, very prudent approach.  And it would be hard for somebody, I think, to find fault with the level of effort that OPG has put on the planning side.

 And the other side of that is the execution side of the coin is an entirely different beast.

MR. POCH:  But your yardstick, your benchmark is industry best practices?

MR. ROBERTS:  Industry best practices on other large, complex projects, correct.

MR. POCH:  You've already agreed that industry best practices have -- and nuclear megaprojects in particular
-- not been an assurance, a particularly good assurance, of success.  If we define success as coming anywhere near project estimates --


MR. ROBERTS:  Yeah, it's not -- the apples-to-apples is can you look at one project and say because of that project now you can judge the success of another.  You know, it's -- there are so many different variables.  That's why you can't have an apples-to-apples.  You can't look at Vogtle and say, if you just did what they did at Vogtle you'd be good here.  You can't look at what they're doing, you know, in Korea and say if you just did what they were doing -- there are so many different variables.  That's -- and I think that's what Galloway was also saying.  It's impossible to say they did this exercise correctly, just follow that, that recipe, and you'll have success over here.  It's not that simple.

MR. POCH:  You've agreed that the benchmark is industry best practices.

MR. ROBERTS:  Yeah.

MR. POCH:  You've agreed there's even -- applying that is difficult, for the reasons you just stated.  But if we are able to judge whether they met industry best practices, would you agree with my conclusion a moment ago, which is, that doesn't tell us that they're going to be successful, because we know in this industry particular success is a very difficult --


MR. ROBERTS:  Yeah, the only caveat I'd use to that, though, is you can look at industry best practices, in this sense means, did you have a robust planning period?  Do you have a well-defined schedule?  Have you done a robust analysis on your costs, you know, have you gone out and done lessons learned?  And there are some companies -- I just want to -- there are some companies that just check that box.  They make a phone call to other companies that have done similar projects, and it's a 30-minute phone call.  That's not industry best practice.

OPG went out and looked at the different sites, had those interviews.  Again, their level of effort is -- that's when I would say they're meeting best level of practice.  What are the policies and procedures they put in place.  But they -- having done what I think, and I think what Galloway would agree, is industry best practices on the planning stage, to answer your question, that's the one side of the coin.  When you flip it and you get into the field, now you've got to execute it.  And there's certainly been enough -- many projects that, even if they were planned well, even if the planning phase was great, they simply weren't able to execute on that.

MR. POCH:  I understand that point.  I'm asking another point as well, which is, perhaps industry standards, given the record in the industry, aren't adequate.

MR. ROBERTS:  I would disagree on that.  I think we're somehow missing each other, that I think you can and I think it has been done successfully, and I think Galloway testified on it.  You can look at industry standards and say, you know, did they have a robust registry, did they have a robust planning, and when that projects fail, if you -- Flyvbjerg is an expert.  If you talk to him as to why projects fail, you can certainly look at some projects and in hindsight and said, look, they got the planning right, they just didn't execute it.  So that doesn't mean the industry standard in terms of what is best practice in the planning stage is flawed.

I don't think that you can take a conclusion that the projects failed and then superimpose on that therefore maybe industry best practices aren't good enough.  I think you have to actually ask yourself, what was the root cause of the failure and did that owner, did those contractors, did they actually -- were the industry practices successful in the areas where it didn't cause a problem and why did it cause a problem.  You know, what was the reason for the failure?

In this case, you know, let me be direct.  I would be shocked that if you guys come back four years from now, if this project is over budget, this project is not meeting schedule, it would be very surprising that it was something missed in the planning definition stage.  It'd be more -- in my experience, it's going to be highly likely that it was an inability to execute.

MR. POCH:  You go on at page 12 to talk about the risk register, and you say you don't have an opinion regarding the content or completeness of the risk registry or whether OPG's assessment of the likelihood or magnitude of all risks or any particular risk will prove to be accurate during the execution phase of the program.

I guess my question is the same as the one I asked earlier.  To actually be able to give an opinion on that you would have had to have independent subject-matter experts delve into the risk identification --


MR. ROBERTS:  Yes, I've done that.  I did that for AECL on some of their projects and I've done it from a number of other energy independent companies, where I do -- I might have a schedule in it, but I -- I would be sitting down with the engineers that put together the risk registry, and it takes weeks.  And it's a detailed question of going through each of the line items and understanding how they put it together.  But to answer your question, that's a very detailed process.

MR. POCH:  And in a highly technical area like nuclear physics you might need to even bring in -- would you need to bring in your own independent advisors on the --


MR. ROBERTS:  Some.  Some of it goes directly to -- yes.  In some aspects of it you would.

MR. POCH:  And again, as far as you know, Pegasus didn't do that either.

MR. ROBERTS:  I don't know who Pegasus had.  I know she has a team.  Excuse me.  It wasn't --


MR. POCH:  Fair enough --


MR. ROBERTS:  -- clear as to who was part of their team, but I know they, you know, they have a very qualified team.  I just don't know what she brought to bear when she did the sampling.

MR. POCH:  You mentioned your work with AECL.  Can you just tell us about what your relationship with AECL is?

MR. ROBERTS:  It was a decade ago, before they sold.  As part of my work on Unit 2 and 4 I was brought in by the chair of AECL at the time, their board, to do some analysis on where they were on various projects throughout the world.

MR. POCH:  Now, you've said throughout and at page 14 in particular, you talk about the true test will be whether OPG actually executes these plans, and so on, and whether they reliably follow prudent management decision-making framework going forward, if I can paraphrase.

Can I ask you, is it possible then that they could come in at their P90 budget level, but effective prudent execution could have achieved a better result, say the P50 budget; that meeting the P90 budget won't be in itself evidence of prudence?  They might have been imprudent, and it's -- it's within the -- you know, they've applied other -- they've used contingency to carry that and...

MR. ROBERTS:  That's a --


MR. POCH:  -- without the imprudence it could have come in at something like --


MR. ROBERTS:  -- I mean, is it --


MR. POCH:  -- is that possible --


MR. ROBERT:  -- I'm not sure I can answer your question.  Is it theoretically possible to meet budget and schedule but in fact made imprudent decisions and still succeeded in theory?  Yes.

MR. POCH:  Well, in this case with a P90 budget and literally billions of dollars of contingency.

MR. ROBERTS:  I don't -- I can't answer that, because that question presupposes that the P90 contingency is excessive, and I don't have any basis at this stage to make that statement.  In fact, I mean, I think that on the process and procedure part of it, using a P90 in and of itself is a prudent, you know, decision.  It's certainly, you know, something that I think anybody in the industry would say gives you a higher probability you're going to hit budget and schedule.

You're really asking, I think, is it imprudent to be seeking the amount of contingency that OPG's seeking on this project.  I can't --


MR. POCH:  No, I'm not asking that at all, although I'm sure other counsel will.

MR. ROBERTS:  Well, then I don't understand your question.

MR. POCH:  No, my question is this.  You have got a lot of contingency here that's unallocated --


MR. ROBERTS:  You know what?  You don't -- you've got a large dollar amount.  You don't know if you have a lot of contingency --


MR. POCH:  Well -- okay --


MR. ROBERTS:  -- that's the issue.

MR. POCH:  We have -- let's not put adjectives on it.  We have unallocated contingency.  Four or five years from now or at the end of the program itself isn't it entirely possible that they might have mismanaged, imprudently managed, some component, blown away, you know, hundreds of millions of dollars, but that because in other areas of the project a bunch of the contingencies they -- didn't arise, and they could still meet the P90 budget.  So meeting the P90 budget, in and of itself, would not be evidence that there hadn't been imprudence.  You would need to look behind the curtain?

MR. ROBERTS:  There are a number of commissions on that issue that ask the entity to give them -- whether it's a quarterly/yearly update on a line by line item as to how they spent contingency, to make sure that not only if they met budget -- that's one sign obviously, I would argue, that it was a prudent process assuming you agree that the P90, the initial schedule and budget is adequate, but on a hyper sensitive level, how do you know that the project wasn't going so swimmingly well that they decided to take a weekend and use the contingency to go to Vegas.

Yes, there is an ability, and other commissions have done it, where they are in addition to review are asking for a detailed level of spend on the contingency and how it was used.  And you can make a judgment as to, during the course of the project, was that a prudent spend.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  You've talked about the golden rule and how Pegasus doesn't comment on the fact that the majority of megaprojects and megaprojects are over budget and over schedule.  It seems to be a point you're emphasizing.

What is the consequence of that?  What does that suggest?

MR. ROBERTS:  What page are you on?

MR. POCH:  It’s at page 31 that you make that observation.  And you’re really just making same point that it's going to be wait and see, and see how they execute and how they manage those problems as they arise?

MR. ROBERTS:  All we're saying is although we believe that OPG has met industry standards in their process and procedures on the planning side and that looks good, that in and of itself doesn't guarantee success.

And the fact of the matter is if anybody thinks this is going to be a walk through the park, it's not; it's the opposite.  That this is going to be, this is going to be a large hard slog, even with great planning, even with everything that OPG has done.

The evidence is that these projects are very difficult.  Unit 2 for OPG, which came in, I believe, relatively on time but 100 million over, that got -- E&R gave it an award.  It was widely recognized within the industry as being a success.

These are -- if OPG comes in on time and on budget on this project, whatever is -- you know, whatever the intervenors' decision and opinion is, most of the industry would say that that's a raving success because it is so hard to do in this industry.

Projects of this magnitude in dollars, projects of this magnitude in time are just statistically unbelievably difficult to get in on budget and on time.  It will take a lot of effort in the execution phase.  That's all we were trying to say.

MR. POCH:  The company that OPG was asked by the government in the context of the long-term energy plan to follow a bunch of rules in setting this project up in the first place, and one of those was to minimize commercial risk.  And let me just acknowledge that obviously in structuring the contracts and how much risk you outsource to contractors, how much of the project you keep in-house, there's a trade-off between holding on to risk and what the project is going to cost.  Do you agree with that?

The more risk that you impose on the contractors, the more you're going to have to pay for it?

MR. ROBERTS:  Right, yes.

MR. POCH:  It's insurance.  You’re buying insurance.

MR. ROBERTS:  If this was done on a single source EPC and that contractor is taking on that single point responsibility, yes, that's a classic where a single EPC contractor almost inevitably would have charged OPG a higher price do this project, yes.

MR. POCH:  And it’s not part of your brief, I take it, to go back and look at how OPG chose to proceed and make that trade-off, and how that complies with the government direction?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think when we looked at their decision of employing a multi prime and in essence having mini EPCs and the five areas of work, we believe that meets industry standard and that's a very reasonable strategy.

MR. POCH:  You didn't go and look at -- given the government's particular direction to them to minimize commercial risk, you didn't look at whether taking a different route would have been appropriate in that context?  That's not part of your mandate; is that right?

MR. ROBERTS:  We looked at whether the strategy they used was reasonable and prudent, and we determined it was.

I will say I think we -- I don't think that there is one contracting strategy.  And if you look at what Schiff has done over the last 30 years, you can go in front of any board, any panel, we always make this statement.  There is no panacea.  There isn't one contract that delivers the project at the least cost with no risk.

Every contracting strategy has pros and cons, and I think we said that in our testimony.  I think it's impossible to say, for instance, that if you went with the EPC, that you minimize the risk.  That's the least amount of risk because you’ve shifted it on to the contractor.

I can't go into it, but I'm working for a government that tried to shift the risk onto the EPC and it all -- the death is in the details and whether or not they effectively did shift the risk in that contract is being hotly contested right now.  They sure as heck paid a premium to use an EPC, but whether or not they actually effectively transferred that risk as it relates to those cost overruns is the subject a very contentious negotiation right now.

I don't think there is one -- we didn't have it as part of our mandate to say is this the least cost, or least risk.  But we did say that there is no one right formula and the one they used we thought met industry standards.

MR. POCH:  Bottom line, you're not vouching for the price here?

MR. ROBERTS:  No.

MR. POCH:  At page 39, you comment on the joint venture and you note that the joint venture is performing work on three separate prime contracts and --


MR. ROBERTS:  Yes, that's SNC Aecon.

MR. POCH:  Yes, and that adds a particular element of risk, correct?

MR. ROBERTS:  They have the benefit that they're going to be highly coordinated, and there's benefits to having –again, it’s the contract strategy I just talked about.  There's pros and cons.  There's definitely advantages to that joint venture in terms of their skill set, knowledge, and experience, and there's going to be advantages as to the fact that they're on the project in three different contracts and to their knowledge and coordination.

The risk that we pointed out is any time you have an entity that's on more than one package, more than one bundle -- for instance, in a worst case, they go bankrupt, they terminate, something happens, there's a higher risk you can't offload that as easily to other contractors.  That was the intent of that statement.

MR. POCH:  You're pointing out a risk they've taken on in the way they’ve structured the work groupings.


MR. ROBERTS:  If you say as a risk and a negative, we don't look at it like that.  When we identify risk, there's always positives and negatives to every decision.  So there's a lot of positives to having SNC Aecon on three different bundles, but also risk in that if something -- if  they got terminated, it would have a bigger impact.

There was the risk also, for instance, as to managing their schedule, they have a lot of -- they have a lot of activities, making sure that they don't dominate -- you know, the scheduled path is going to be important --


MR. POCH:  Okay.

MR. ROBERTS:  -- but --


MR. POCH:  But you're -- are you in a position to tell us whether that choice to have them on three bundles was a good one or a bad one?

MR. ROBERTS:  I can tell you that what we did say is on a contracting strategy it was given -- it was within industry standards to do it.

MR. POCH:  Everything seems to be within industry standards.

MR. ROBERTS:  No, that's not true at all.  No, that's not true.  I had a project where literally on a key component the owner wanted to go with somebody in a pickup truck and no licence plate.  I was like, "That is a bad idea."  And they're like, "That's a great price, Roberts."  And I said, "That's a really bad idea."


Ad when the structure collapsed and the pickup truck was gone, you know, they looked at me and they said, "You're right, that was a bad idea," all right?  That was not a prudent -- that was not within industry standards.

Their strategy on how they selected the contractors for the bundles and the interviewing process, I guarantee that does fit industry standard.

MR. POCH:  Right.  Now, SNC has had a lot of bad press about their ethical standards and projects around the world, their dealings with governments and so on.  Did you -- was it part of your brief to look into SNC's ethical practices --


MR. ROBERTS:  No.

MR. POCH:  -- and their controls?

MR. ROBERTS:  No.

MR. POCH:  And did you in your review find evidence that OPG had gone into that area of investigation?

MR. ROBERTS:  We didn't look into any of that.

MR. POCH:  And you didn't see any in the tens of thousands of pages, there was no evidence provided to you that OPG has actually addressed that; is that correct?

MR. ROBERTS:  The analysis we saw in selecting the contractors was based on their ability to meet and fulfill the scope of work and meet schedule.  It was more on a technical competency that SNC Aecon definitely has.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MR. ROBERTS:  Thank you.

MR. POCH:  Thank you, sir.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.

We're going to take a break for 15 minutes.
--- Recess taken at 11:18 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:38 a.m.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Yauch, are you ready to commence your cross-examination?

MR. YAUCH:  I am.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Yauch:


MR. YAUCH:  Good afternoon.

MR. ROBERTS:  Good afternoon.

MR. YAUCH:  I'm going to start off with sort of a high-level question to get us started.

OPG, in the way they presented this project using their statistical model, they would say nine times out of ten, Unit 2, for example, comes in at $4.8 billion.  That's the way they've laid out their evidence.

Now, you've done a lot of work on megaprojects.  How confident are you that nine times out of ten, a project like this will actually hit that budget?

MR. ROBERTS:  I'm not in a position to give you testimony on that.  They used the P90 and my testimony is limited to the planning stage and what they did, and using a P90 as well within industry standards.

But you're going to the ultimate probability of what this project actually does.  That's outside my portfolio.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  So just a question on the risk registry.  We have heard a lot of about this, and the way I interpret it is the risk registry is a compilation of the known knowns and known unknowns.  It’s the wonderful world of statistics.

But you’ve said that you didn’t actually -- you nor Dr. Galloway said that you actually reviewed how OPG went about compiling these risks.  You simply said the process in which they did it was good.

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  Our review was limited only to the process and procedures, and how they put together the risk registry, meaning the big picture.  And their level of effort and the time they spent on it, reading the various reports on it, all showed that the level of effort and time they spent on it was within industry standards.

MR. YAUCH:  So other industries have compiled -- other megaprojects within the industry have compiled risk registries in the same way OPG did.

MR. ROBERTS:  Similar, yes.

MR. YAUCH:  And they also suffered -- and it's common to see cost overruns, even when they follow that process.  So the process doesn't actually prevent us from a cost overrun.

MR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.

MR. YAUCH:  I have a compendium.  I sent it to OPG.

MS. LONG:  We have it here.  Does everyone have a copy?

MR. RICHLER:  Excuse me, Madam Chair, we can mark that as a Exhibit K7.2. 
EXHIBIT NO. K7.2:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF ENERGY PROBE FOR OEB STAFF PANEL 1D

MR. YAUCH:  On page 3 of my compendium, you said that you did not perform a compliance audit to determine whether OPG had adhered to their internal policies, procedures, guidelines or applicable legal regulations.

I was curious.  Did you look at whether OPG -- the way they did contracting, the way they went about this project, whether it aligned with the province's long-term energy plan?

MR. ROBERTS:  I'm sorry, I was looking at the document.  Could you repeat that?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.  Did you look at whether OPG, the way in which they went about the project, whether that was in line with the province's long-term energy plan?

MR. ROBERTS:  No, I did not.

MR. YAUCH:  Are you aware of the Long-Term Energy Plan?  Did you read it before you did your assessment?

MR. ROBERTS:  No.

MR. YAUCH:  Could you go to page 5, please?

MR. ROBERTS:  Which is page 34 of my report?

MR. YAUCH:  Page 14 of your report.

MR. ROBERTS:  I'm looking at the wrong -- the only one I was given I thought was the EECC --


MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, Mr. Roberts, do you have a copy of the compendium?  It says SEC Interrogatory No.5 on the front page.

MR. ROBERTS:  No, I didn't.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Okay.

MR. ROBERTS:  Sorry, I was looking at the wrong one.

MR. YAUCH:  I think you discussed this earlier.  You said that OPG -- that during the definition phase, they acted prudently, essentially.

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. YAUCH:  I'm assuming in the definition phase, you didn't include some of the projects we've been talking about, the D2O and some of other early projects that went over budget and behind schedule.  Those aren't included in your assessment?

MR. ROBERTS:  It's included in not the project per se, but in terms of the process and procedures they used, we said that those were meeting industry standards.  And I believe OPG's answer as to the heavy water was that their process and procedures weren't fully instigated for that project.

MR. YAUCH:  They weren't following the processes and procedures that they implemented later?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think it would be more accurate to say they didn't exist.  If I understand OPG's position on it, they didn't exist at the time of heavy water.  They weren't implemented as opposed to they didn't follow them.

Didn't follow them implies they existed and could have done it and they chose not to.

MR. YAUCH:  As an independent person looking at this project, are you concerned with the fact that they weren't able to get those projects on track after they did later bring in processes and policies, they weren't actually able to right the ship?  Is that a sign of --


MR. ROBERTS:  I wouldn't say it like that.  I don't know enough about the heavy water project to know when process and procedures were implemented, and whether they should have been following them for heavy water.

Our comment was one of the first things out of the gate on the project overall didn't have a good track record as it related to either budget or schedule, and that that should be a red flag that somebody should focus on to make sure that that's not repeated later on in the execution phase on the other items.

MR. YAUCH:  When you look at a project like this and see things like that happening, do you also get concerned going forward that when things started to go a little bit off the rails, OPG was unable to get it back on those rails?

MR. ROBERTS:  I wouldn't describe the fact that they missed the mark on heavy water as in any way saying the program is off the rails.

MR. YAUCH:  They missed it by north of 200 percent, from a budget point of view.

MR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.

MR. YAUCH:  That's not considered going significantly off the rails?

MR. ROBERTS:  You made the comment as if that is indicative of the overall project.  The fact they missed the mark on heavy water is a red flag.  I’d want to know why they missed it and I would want an explanation that that's not likely to carry over in the other execution phase of the project.  But it's a data point in the overall project.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  Let’s go to page 7 of my compendium, please.  I have it highlighted, but essentially you say that it might be a challenge to update the schedules and costs for the later units while they're completing Unit 2, that you think that's a risk to the project, correct?

MR. ROBERTS:  It's a potential risk, yes.

MR. YAUCH:  But if you -- if you had to give advice, would you tell them maybe they should unlap the later units and not try to do -- at one point, they'll be doing two or three at a time.  Won’t that be a challenge to incorporate lessons learned while they're doing two or three units simultaneously?


MR. ROBERTS:  I don't know.  We’ve certainly been on projects, big projects where they did lessons learned that were folded in as they ran out another project.  But what we're trying to caution is you’d better have sufficient teams that are actually doing the work on Unit 2, while at the same time trying to incorporate that on to the next unit.

It's just, it's -- this idea that any risk means it's imprudent or any risk is bad -- there's risk in doing a major project like this around every corner.  You just have to identify it and make sure that you've taken appropriate action.  And our point was if they're going to, you know -- it is industry standard, it is prudent before you begin the next unit to incorporate lessons learned.  That's a good thing to do.

The issue is you’d better make sure you have the time and the people, and that it's scheduled correctly so you could be doing it as you're trying to finish Unit 2 as the next unit is going out, that you've given yourself sufficient time.  That was our only comment.

MR. YAUCH:  If you go to page 13 --

MR. ROBERTS:  Page 13?

MR. YAUCH:  Yes.  This is a look at OPG's hiring plan and shows that they missed hiring plans a little bit.

My first question is:  Is it really common for megaprojects to continually be hiring once the project has already started, or is it normal for them to have -- have their hiring plans done by the time they, in this case, breaker open --


MR. ROBERTS:  I think it's pretty common, the hiring is ongoing during the course of the project.

MR. YAUCH:  So the fact that they've missed some of their targets, as an outside independent evaluation you wouldn't say, oh, well, this is a problem?

MR. ROBERTS:  No, not in and of itself.

MR. YAUCH:  Another thing that's part of this, you mentioned that OPG's task to monitor the project is almost itself a megaproject, that it has to manage multiple contractors, millions of hours of labour, different buckets in which those labour hours get put, and so on and so forth.

Are you concerned that OPG is still hiring now for people where the project is already going and the task at hand is itself massive, and are these people equipped to actually do this process?

MR. ROBERTS:  That's a -- I'm not -- that's outside my portfolio to say are they equipped to do it.  I think they have the processes and procedures and staffing that are -- meet industry standards.  We've noted, though, that if you're missing who you need to -- on staffing, if that continues, that could get problematic as the project goes on.

So not hitting your staffing plan, not saying that in and of itself once or twice maybe isn't critical, but if they continue to miss the mark, then they need to recognize that as a risk.

MR. YAUCH:  And you raised concern -- correct me if I'm wrong -- that the qualifications of some of the managers that were being hired -- you said, well, the executive team, they had good experience in megaprojects.  One step below them, I don't know -- we don't know how good they are doing this type of stuff.

MR. ROBERTS:  We didn't have the information to make any type of judgment as to who they were hiring below.  That was the point of that statement.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  That is -- my last question, I think you've already talked about it, but in regards -- it's on page 15 of the compendium.  You were at this page earlier.  You said the Georgia regulator called for an independent monitor through the project as the nuclear project was going, and you're not actually advocating the Board do that model here?

MR. ROBERTS:  We're just identifying what other agencies have done on other projects.  We're asked to do a compare and contrast.  That is what they did.

MR. YAUCH:  Is it common on megaprojects for regulators or governments that are supporting the megaprojects to put an independent monitor in place?  Would you say that's par for the course?

MR. ROBERTS:  I wouldn't say it's par for the course.  It's certainly something that's happening on a more frequent basis.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MR. ROBERTS:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Yauch.  Mr. Rubenstein.


Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, Mr. Roberts.

MR. ROBERTS:  Good morning.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just have a few areas of questioning that have not been touched on or I have some follow-up.  The first question is, you've spoken today a number of times today in -- you've discussed today in response to a number of questions, you've referenced a root cause analysis that is sometimes done.

Can you -- did I understand that correctly?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you talk about that, explain what that process is?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think that what I refer to as the Epp report that we did is very much a root cause analysis as to what went wrong in Unit 4.  That's a very extensive one.  But the root cause, it's simply identifying, why did that event occur, so on the heavy water, what exactly happened that caused that project to go over budget and over schedule.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in your experience, when some -- what should trigger a root cause analysis?

MR. ROBERTS:  It really depends on, does that event, does that incident rise to the level that you think it could be -- that either it endangered the schedule or the budget, and/or that it might be predictive of other issues in the project that you need to find out the cause and nip it in the bud.

So I don't think that every issue that you see needs a root cause analysis of some -- the explanation given is sufficient.  But if you think that there is something out there that is indicative of endangering schedule or budget, take for example, you know, then you would want to drill down deeper.  You'd want a more fulsome analysis of why did that happen and are we confident that that's not going to happen again.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if you were advising OPG with respect to the Darlington refurbishment project, would you advise -- what would you advise them when to -- at what point they should undertake a root cause analysis, what should be contained in that root cause analysis, how extensive is required in the midst of a project?

MR. ROBERTS:  It would depend heavily on what the issue is and the level of threat that it's perceived to the budget or the schedule of the project.  So it's not -- there is no one button -- there's no one, you know, prescription that fits it.

But if you saw something, if you saw an issue or a problem that had an impact on schedule or budget or that you thought could have an ongoing impact on schedule or budget, you would want to have a more fulsome review of that issue, what I would call a root cause.  Tell me why that happened, make sure it's a thorough investigation, are we confident that that's in essence a one-off, or are we confident that our process and procedures are going to cover that on an ongoing basis, or were our processes and procedures good, they just weren't executed effectively in the field.  All of those are possibilities.  What was it, or is there an unknown door that we haven't talked about that we now are aware of so that we don't repeat that exercise.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in your review of the material on the record in this proceeding, is there anywhere that you've seen that OPG has a process in place to undertake a root cause analysis?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think they have the process and procedures in place, given the data that they're requesting and how that data is going to be circulated, that if they chose to, that, yeah, I think they could do root cause analysis.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I'm not asking if they could do that one with the data and information, but have you seen in the information that you've seen that they have a process in place to do one that would require one to be done?

MR. ROBERTS:  You mean was there an event that I would say should have a root cause analysis?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, my question is you've reviewed -- based on your understanding of what a root cause analysis is and reviewing the processes in place for project controls and so on --


MR. ROBERTS:  Right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- did you see in the evidence anywhere where OPG has put in place a process to undertake a root cause analysis?

MR. ROBERTS:  During the planning phase of something that happened, right, because --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well --


MR. ROBERTS:  -- because our report was limited to the planning phase.  They hadn't gone into the execution.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But my understanding, the planning phase is putting in processes for the execution phase.

MR. ROBERTS:  Right.  So that's where I think we're -- I don't think that they have the process and procedures that would allow them to do a root cause analysis if the need arose.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sorry, you mean they do or they --


MR. ROBERTS:  They have the process and procedures in place that if and when they think they need do a root cause analysis they believe they could do it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you're not aware of any place -- or process in place that would not just provide the information but would trigger it or require them to do it?

MR. ROBERTS:  Not per se, but I think that, again, I think -- I don't -- yeah, I don't know if they've used the words root cause analysis or if this event occurs at one of the stages of review, this is when it goes into effect.  As I sit here right now I couldn't articulate that, whether they have the specificity to do it.  They certainly have the process and procedures overall to enact it if they needed to.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, Mr. Roberts, you talked about in your -- in a number of questions and in your examination-in-chief that you -- in the past you've had experience being the eyes and ears of the owner or the boards in reviewing or monitoring construction projects?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Have you reviewed the evidence in this proceeding from Burns and Modus which, my understanding, they have a similar role with respect to the OPG's board or specifically a committee of the board?

MR. ROBERTS:  I've reviewed reports that they provided.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do you -- can you give us your view on if, in your view, they have -- they're undertaking an appropriate scope of review, those reports contain --


MR. ROBERTS:  I'm not -- I've just -- I reviewed the data.  It's not part of my portfolio to be telling you whether or not that's -- the data that they reviewed as part of the data that was incorporated as to how OPG is coming up with their process and procedures, you know, and specifically, I think it was related to the cost estimate, but not in the vein of the sufficiency of data that's going to come to the executives once the project is underway.  That's outside my testimony.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand that.  I'm just asking, because you have experience doing this sort of work, if reviewing those reports you've seen, which I understand are on a quarterly basis, if you think they're sufficient.


MR. ROBERTS:  I reviewed what they did as it related to the cost estimate.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You have not reviewed any of the other reports that are --


MR. ROBERTS:  Not in detail, no.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  I want to ask you about if we can -- you talk about in your report that under staffing is a risk in megaprojects.  Would you agree with me?

MR. ROBERTS:  Which page of the report?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  On page 47, you talk about that.  On page 28, you do as well.

MR. ROBERTS:  We made a comment that they had, they were missing their mark on staffing.  On 47, we’re talking about -- where is it on 47?  There is the line: 
"Megaprojects and megaprograms are inherently risky due to long duration and complex interfaces, under staffing, inexperienced project planners/managers..."

Is that your reference?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

MR. ROBERTS:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And again on page, as I read page 28, you talk about the staffing plans.  Beginning on page 26, there is a discussion about that.  And on 28, you say that they're behind and you say:

"If OPG fails to create and maintain staffing levels in accordance with the staffing plan, it could adversely impact OPG's ability to effectively manage the DRP."

 I take it from that that you believe under-staffing is a risk to megaprojects generally, and obviously the OPG?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I believe you talk about if we go back a page that in your view, as I understand it -- at the time of your report, it was your view OPG was behind in their staffing plan?

MR. ROBERTS:  We had seen data -- you're now looking at pages 26 and 27?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.


MR. ROBERTS:  The data said they were not meeting the numbers that they predicted.  It was a comment on -- they said they were going to be at this level and they weren't.  And we're not saying that's a threat per se to the project at this stage.

What we are saying is that if you chronically are under staffing to the projected numbers, that certainly is a risk.

And to go to your other point, historically that's been a risk to these large projects is the fact that they were understaffed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Could I ask that J3.3 be brought up?  Mr. Roberts, I'm not sure you would have seen this because it's happened during the hearing, but OPG provided an update on -- essentially an update to the interrogatory that you reference in your material on the same basis, AMPCO 87.

If we go to the second page, as we look at their actual FTEs compared to your page 27 on the report, we see them below in September, October, November and December, and in some cases quite significantly.

And we see that they would have -- at least between, as this interrogatory shows, they're at 186 they would need to hire in January to get to the February approved plan.

So with this updated information, that I know you're just looking at now, would you agree with me that that is increasing the risk to the execution of the project?

MR. ROBERTS:  I would say it's a potential risk.  It's not good.  You can't say its a increasing the risk per se unless you know that those people are actually needed for tasks that are needed to be performed now.  That’s the real answer.

If the 186 people were needed to be doing tasks But immediately and they are not, and that causes a threat to schedule or budget, I would agree with you.  The mere fact that they said they want to be at X level and they're not, they're going to need to analyze what is the impact of not having those bodies on-site to their actual performance.

It's a trend you've got to watch.  And certainly during the course of the job, if they weren't able to meet their staffing levels, it's a red flag.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I go back to page 25 of your report, you talk about how its your view their staffing plan appears to be within industry standards.  So one would assume they're staffing at the appropriate levels.

MR. ROBERTS:  We're not commenting on -- we're talking about again the process and procedures how they put -- say we have a staffing plan, and this is how we work it up.  We're saying that meets industry standards in terms of the analysis.

We're not commenting as to whether they have the right number of bodies.  We wouldn't know that.  I can't tell you if they have enough, or they have too little.  We're saying how they put together their plan to say this is how we're staffing it, that was a good plan.

What you're now talking about, in terms of not having those bodies, is that's the execution of that plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If your comment is, well, we don't know if the original staffing plan is -- or at least the original staffing numbers, you know, you need those bodies. One would assume, though, that if they're setting those numbers based on a staffing plan, that that's -- and if you believe that that staffing plan, at least as a process, was done correctly, then at least in OPG's view, they need those individuals.


MR. ROBERTS:  It's not -- look, it would be better had they had the bodies on-site.  I can't tell you whether, in the diagram you had up, missing those 186 bodies as of today, I can't tell you what level of threat that is to the project.  That's outside my scope.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If I can ask you to turn to VECC interrogatory attachment 1; this is the K7.1 that was raised today.

As I understood what this document was, it was in response to a question -- a number of people had asked you similar questions and were pointed to VECC 6 about what information should be provided to the Board.

As I understood your comments during your examination-in-chief, this is sort of a list of standard items that you have used in the past; it's not specifically tailored to this project at all.  Did I understand that correctly?

MR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you, if ultimately the Board wants parties seeking your assistance, and the Board is interested in that assistance, what information should be provided to it that are specific to the Darlington refurbishment project?


Are you able to help us?  Which of -- since this is a generic report, are you able to provide -- and you don't need to do this now, but by way of undertaking, can you give us a list of the items on this that the Board should get if it's asking for, say, a monthly progress report?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  And it would be a reiterative document in that you would look at the data that's being provided, and whether it's on a monthly or quarterly, you're constantly trying to fine tune what the Board thinks is important.

So you're looking at the data coming out of OPG.  You're looking at the data going to their executives.  You're looking at the data that's going to the contractors in terms of status, and trying to find the right mix that the decision bodies want to know in terms of what gives them a good indicative feel of where that project is.

So again, it's not a recipe you pull off the shelf.  It's finding the right mix for whoever the audience is that you're giving them, and trying to get it in both quantity and directness so that they understand what to focus on, and so they make their decisions where they want to go at the next step.

MR. RICHLER:  That's undertaking J 7.1 as I understand it, it's to provide a revised version of this Exhibit K7.1 that is more tailored to the DRP. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.1:  to provide a revised version of Exhibit K7.1 more tailored to the DRP


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  In your discussions with Ms. Blanchard earlier on today she was walking you through the four-step process, essentially, that you had identified on page 11 and -- beginning at page 11 of your report?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I was wondering, would you expect that if OPG is drawing down from contingency, if it's making the determination it needs to draw down from its contingency, that it's using this four-step process before it does so?

MR. ROBERTS:  Not necessarily.  I mean, there's -- this is the -- this is the overlay as to, how do you know the decisions are being prudent, could you use it, I guess on contingency, yes.  Part of contingency, you could have a -- you could have a known entity that you planned to use contingency for if it occurred, and it occurs, and you use it, so, I mean, this four-step analysis would be rather quick on that, right?  We identified a risk X.  If it occurred and we didn't have it in the budget we were going to use contingency on that.  X occurred, we use contingency on it.  I'm not sure what more of the analysis would be on it.

If you -- on the other hand, if you -- if they were planning on -- and I have no idea on this -- if you're planning on using X amount of contingency per month, 5 percent, whatever, 3 percent, and you're at 10, could you use this four-step analysis to understand why the contingency is higher than anticipated?  Yes.  Just to give you a juxtaposition, one, that this analysis wouldn't really help you.  It was a planned event.  If that event occurred, you were assuming you'd use contingency to cover it, boom, you did it.  The other is that you're using the contingency at a higher rate than you anticipated.  There's red flags with that, obviously.  And then you use four-step processes:  Can we make sense out of why we're spending contingency higher than anticipated.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to make sure it's not just a question of semantics.  You say no, but is it more yes, but in some cases it's just a very quick analysis because there is really only one option?

MR. ROBERTS:  It would depend, I guess is the correct -- could you use it, yes.  In some situations I'm not sure it would be helpful if it was an activity that was identified and you always assumed you were going to use contingency for it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MR. ROBERTS:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Ms. Grice, are you ready to proceed?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, I am.  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:

MS. GRICE:  Good morning, Mr. Roberts.

MR. ROBERTS:  Hi.

MS. GRICE:  If we can start off first at page 14 of your testimony, please.

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  At the very bottom of that page it says:

"As noted in the Pegasus global report prepared by Dr. Patricia Galloway, an expert hired by OPG, the facilities and infrastructure projects and safety improvement opportunities were not necessarily completed per the initial planned schedule and estimate."

And I just wanted to ask if you reviewed those projects as well and if you came to the same conclusion?

MR. ROBERTS:  No, we didn't review the projects.  We're merely commenting on what Pegasus did in their review when they noted that they weren't completed per the initial planned schedule and estimate.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So the paragraph then as it follows through on page 15 talks specifically about the heavy water project?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  So that's the only project that you reviewed in any significant detail?

MR. ROBERTS:  We didn't -- I want to emphasize we didn't review it in significant detail.  We were looking as for indicators as to how the project was going and in general, you know, things that they needed to mitigate and the fact that they had some initial work that they must by -- significantly by either budget or schedule was a red flag, and that's all we were trying do was say, guys, you know, one of the first things out of the chute you missed.  That's not a good -- that's not -- that's not good.  And we just simply said, there's a red flag.  Is that something that's indicative of what's going to happen.  That was the point of it.  There really -- we don't have -- we didn't shift from the documentation given.  We really didn't have any ability to go deeper in this report as to decision-making or data or anything beyond.  You had something initially coming out and it missed the mark.  Why -- hopefully they're paying attention to it.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So the contractor for the heavy water project is the same contractor for the retube feeder replacement project, which my understanding is occupies most of the critical path for the refurbishment project.  So given that you've seen a red flag on the heavy water project, is that, in your view -- do you see a red flag attached to that contractor in delivering on the DRP refurbishment?

MR. ROBERTS:  No, you can't make that conclusion just because -- we have one item in isolation.  We don't know the significance of it, although, as one of the other intervenors pointed out, they missed budget, they missed schedule by a significant amount.  That in and of itself is the red flag.

If you don't know why that happened, if you don't have any data that shows is that likely to happen again, I think it's unfair to then paint that contractor, you know, with the idea that they're likely to repeat it.  But certainly understanding the whys of how that project went over budget, went over on schedule, is something that we would recommend they look into and have a high level of confidence that for whatever reason it happened is not likely to be repeated again as they go forward.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.

MR. ROBERTS:  Thank you.

MS. GRICE:  I'm going to move to a different area.

MR. ROBERTS:  Sure.

MS. GRICE:  Turning to page 16 of your testimony, and just given the discussion we've had so far today about project controls, and it really comes down to OPG's ability to execute the project, I just wanted to verify.  You say right at line 3:

"The DRP will be managed against the RQE budget and base line schedule."

And as part of the interrogatory process OPG provided an -- a Unit 2 cost estimate.  And I just wondered, in terms of reporting on schedule and cost, would you say that the line in the sand is the release quality estimate, or would you say the reporting should be against the Unit 2 estimate?  Do you have an opinion on that?

MR. ROBERTS:  Really, I don't.  I mean, I think it's whatever the parties agree to.  Typically you go with what's the more robust.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Page 22 of your report --


MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  -- and at the very bottom there was a question that you responded to, which was:

"What information is needed in order to track earned value on a project."

And the response, and I'll read it in, is that:

"Earned value relies on all contractors having a resource or man-loaded base line schedule which identifies all of the projects, activities, and associated discrete work units or man-hours needed to complete those activities.  Tracking earned value also requires that the contract report their status and provide visibility to their earned and actual hours as required by the systems in place."

So can you just explain a little further how this works?  You know, I assume each contractor has a base line schedule with hours attached to it, and I just wanted a further breakdown of that.  Are there milestones that have hours attached to them and --


MR. ROBERTS:  No, the milestone is more on a macro schedule, where you're supposed to be.  The earned value is, you tell me you're going to cut my lawn, and the schedule you give -- and you tell me you're going to be able to do it, you know, in four hours, and this is the dollars.  It's my ability -- if you just give me a schedule that says, oh, I'm a third of the way done, I don't know how -- I don't know the level of effort that you put in to get it.  But if you tell me the hours that you expected to spend doing that, let's say ten-hour activity, and now you're also giving me the hours that you're giving me as you progress the job, I now can se your planned versus your actual, not only progress of the job, but the number of hours that you're expending to do it.  So if it takes less than you anticipated, good.  Maybe that's, over time, indicative that you're going to beat schedule.

But in the same breath, if it takes a lot more hours than you anticipated, it means that the task is harder or something is not as anticipated, and from a scheduling perspective, if I needed to have you done with a certain activity so the contractors that follow you are then ready, I know that you're not able to hit your earned value, it gives me a chance to mitigate those follow-on contractors so I'm not causing a delay to them.

So the earned value is really -- you know, it's a very effective tool.  My understanding is OPG intends to use it, and it allows the owner to see the progress the contractor is making in the field with that level of effort.  So it's a predictive tool of their ability to finish other tasks.

And when you have a contractor -- when you have an owner such as OPG that's managing the schedule and acting as the coordinator of all these activities, that predictive value of where those contractors are in the field and what they're actually able to accomplish is a very important tool.

My understanding is that's a tool that OPG definitely intends to use in the execution phase.

MS. GRICE:  Can you tell me what the metric would be that applies to labour hours?

MR. ROBERTS:  I don't --


MS. GRICE:  I mean is that used to underpin the CPI metric, or is there a separate metric that tracks --


MR. ROBERTS:  The CPI is schedule driven.  The earned value is looking at the level of effort the contractor used to meet the schedule.  I would say they're apples and oranges.

MS. GRICE:  So it's a separate indicator?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then I understand that in terms of quality and human performance, the number of hours reworked is a typical metric that is used?

MR. ROBERTS:  Can you -- is there a specific page in my testimony?

MS. GRICE:  Just bear with me.  You referenced it on page 29, footnote 3 -- or footnote 50, where it says "see attachment 33."

So I looked at attachment 33, which is regarding project controls.  And there is a section in there on key performance indicators, and one of them is a quality indicator relating to human performance and has to do with number of hours reworked.  I understand that's a metric that OPG is looking at using, and I just wanted to understand the relationship between rework, the number of hours reworked, and the number of hours in the budget.

Is there a threshold?  Is there a point where you get a red flag if you're seeing a percentage of rework hours compared to hours in the budget?  Is there an industry standard around that?

MR. ROBERTS:  I don't know if there's an industry standard per se.  The footnote refers to earned value and assuming what you said is correct in the attachment, if you have significant rework, it's impacting your earned value.  You actually did not earn that value as anticipated because of the rework.

And certainly on projects, if there's significant rework -- and I don't think that's necessarily defined, it would depend on the activity.  But if there's significant rework associated with a project, yes, that would be a red flag.

That would be an item I would expect that if OPG saw what they thought was significant rework that's impacting the progress of the job, they would be identifying it and discussing it with the contractor: why are we having so much rework, is that likely to persist, and what's its impact on schedule forecast.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I haven't had a chance to look closely at Exhibit 7, K7.1, where you provided just a sample of metrics.  Is rework on that blended reporting?

MR. ROBERTS:  I believe it is.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. ROBERTS:  Certainly under section 4, quality control/quality assurances, non-conformance, non-compliance identified, resolution and corrective action taken.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  Can we turn to page 31, Please?

MR. ROBERTS:  Sure.

MS. GRICE:  The second sentence there says:
"The Pegasus Global team had the opportunity to interview key personnel at OPG, which is a material difference from Schiff's analysis."

I wanted to ask was that a consideration in your contact with staff to interview OPG staff, or was that something that just wasn't considered and if not, why not?

MR. ROBERTS:  It wasn't part of our scope.  We were looking only with a two-month duration to be looking at the documents.  We said we could do it, that we could do a high level process and procedures based on the written documentation.

There was no way we could have, in a two-month time period, try to accomplish what we did and, at the same time, then trying to interview people.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  I just have one more question.

Just based on your experience and your review of industry standards, would you have an opinion as to whether or not you typically see P50 or P90 in megaprojects?

MR. ROBERTS:  We look at all the data -- just take what Flyvbjerg did.  I'm not sure he or anyone else has actually quantified where those projects were on a P50-P90 basis.

I would tell you I think best practice is that you would have a higher level of certainty at the planning stage, i.e. a P90, as to where you were, that that should give you theoretically a better chance to budget and schedule.  You simply need to then be able to execute that in the construction phase.

My guess would be that if Flyvbjerg could go back and analyze those projects that went over budget and over schedule and did an analysis it occurred more in the planning stage versus the construction stage, that there are probably more projects that are closer to the P50 that failed than the P90.

P90 is telling you that you have a greater confidence in your planning phase of the game -- if that answers your question.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  Mr. Buonaguro, how long do you think you'll be?  I'm trying to determine whether or not you want to start before lunch, or if you want to take the hour break now and go after.  And I want to check that our witness is okay to continue.  I had a cold last week, so I'm somewhat sympathetic.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My cross isn't long enough to bother splitting it, if that helps.  So it’s just as easy to go after as before.

MS. LONG:  Why don't we break for an hour now, and come back with Mr. Buonaguro.  Thanks. 
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:33 p.m.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Buonaguro, are you ready to start your cross-examination of Mr. Roberts?


Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.

Good afternoon.  My name is Michael Buonaguro.  I'm counsel for the Consumers Council of Canada, and I have a few questions for you.  I can start by saying that while I thought I might go over my time estimate, I was luckily able to cut out all my questions about the surgical history of your pets, so -- so anybody who wasn't here this morning is going to now go read the transcript.

I'm going to start by taking you to an interrogatory we asked, and this is Exhibit M1, tab 4.3, Schedule CCC-001.  And while we're turning that up, I think I can also tell you I don't believe I have any questions about planning.  I think you've been asked quite a lot of questions about planning, and I think I have your position on that.

This interrogatory -- and it's up on the screen -- and you can see on the first page I collected three quotes from your evidence, and I'm just going to read them and ask you about them.

So the first one from page 14 of your evidence, which is Exhibit M1, says:

"While OPG's detailed planning during the definition phase of the DRP does prepare OPG to mitigate the risks that occur during the execution phase of the DRP, the true test will be whether OPG actually executes those plans and whether OPG continually and reliably follows the prudent management decision-making framework described above to make reasonable management decisions based on Schiff's experience in the industry and owner's compliance with industry standard risk mitigation planning does not guarantee the successful execution of the program or project."

At page 31 you say:

"All megaprojects, including megaprograms, experience some form of cost and/or schedule issues.  It is not a question of whether these type events occur.  It is a matter of how OPG handles and responds to these issues when they arise."

And then at page 35 of your evidence you said:

"The management and coordination of risk related to the prime contractors lies squarely on OPG's shoulders, and regardless of the contracting strategy the owner's management of the project is crucial to its success.  No contracting strategy will be successful unless it is properly managed throughout the life cycle of the project."

So you can see I've conveniently brought these quotes to this interrogatory response because they struck me in a particular way, and what I took from these parts of your evidence was this, that despite the planning -- and I understand that your opinion is that the planning by OPG was very good -- there are many opportunities, if opportunities is the right word, for mismanagement throughout the execution phase of a project, and not just for OPG, but for any megaproject, and that that is a risk that continues on past the planning phase; is that fair?

MR. ROBERTS:  That's a risk, but I also think that just, the construction phase -- don't use the word mismanagement.  The construction phase with proper management has risk of going over budget and over schedule.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.  And I think if I understood that --


MR. ROBERTS:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- qualification, I think you're saying there's been a lot of talk about contingency amounts, and contingency amounts are supposed to account for risks that may or may not manifest, and there may actually be risks that haven't been identified yet that manifest and that increased costs, but are still prudently managed even though there is a cost overrun, and that doesn't necessarily mean that there was imprudence, correct?  I think that's what you're saying.

MR. ROBERTS:  I don't know.  You'd have to say that again.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Am I going to too fast?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yeah.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me slow down.  You qualified what I just said, and I think what you were telling me is that there are construction risks, whether or not they're prudently handled or not.  So costs can go up, they go up because of risks manifesting themselves, and that's normal, and we should expect that.  What I'm trying to point out here is that there also a risk -- there is also a risk of imprudent action on behalf of the company.  It's a risk.  It could happen.

MR. ROBERTS:  Sure, that's a possibility.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And you can't and I can't and presumably no one can know if that is going to happen because we're talking about a future event.

MR. ROBERTS:  True.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And so when in this case the company comes in three or four years from now, I guess it's four, in 2020 with, fingers crossed, a fully functional Unit 2 after refurbishment with a total cost to the project, it's only at that point will we know finally whether or not there was a material impact as a result of imprudent action on behalf of OPG or whether the cost is entirely supported by its base forecast and explained by the risks that actually manifested during the course of the construction.

MR. ROBERTS:  That's beyond my scope.  That's assuming that there's no interchange, there is no review during the course of the job.  If you're saying the only -- you're presupposing that the next time that you get to see the status of the job is when it's over.  If that's, you know, if that's the hypothetical, then I guess that's when you would say it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  What you're alluding there to, though, is that it's a potentially -- and I think you've talked about some examples of processes where essentially the performance by the company on the project is reviewed intermittently?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Prior to actual completion.

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And in that case presumably there is at least an opportunity for imprudent or potentially imprudent acts on the part of the company to be picked up before they come to fruition?

MR. ROBERTS:  Potentially it just gives you -- there is an ability in intermittent steps to be -- if things aren't going as planned, to be able to closer to real-time address why those are happening and are those, you know, are those the basis of events beyond the control of OPG or is it something on a prudency basis that they could have, should have been able to manage better and make a different decision.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And my understanding from your testimony this morning is that in order for someone outside OPG, so in this case potentially OEB or some intermediary, some third party was retained as an expert on behalf of the OEB to look at the company in terms of its performance, it would be the types of information in Exhibit 7.1 that would be required in order to make an assessment?

MR. ROBERTS:  That was just meant as an example, but, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And I think there is an undertaking where you're going to tailor this example to the DRP?

MR. ROBERTS:  That's what I understood.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  And just the top of this Exhibit J7.1 it says:

"Each weekly and monthly progress report..."

And I wanted to ask you about that.  You talked a little bit about the timing of the reporting, but I didn't -- I didn't understand there to be anything concrete about it.

In this actual attachment are you suggesting that there has to be weekly reporting?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yeah, I'm talking about, we've had projects where there was weekly reports, but it was coming from the project side up.  I would -- I -- to a third party, you know, whether it -- it sure as heck wouldn't be weekly.  Whether it was monthly or quarterly would need to be determined.  You don't want to get -- you wouldn't -- you don't want the team caught up in an exercise of reports, so it depends on the length of the project and the pacing of the project, how much the project moves before you have an accurate basis as to when the reports -- this was a generic example of not necessarily even to an outside third party dependent, but what we've had in terms of just reports coming from -- the field reports coming from the owner.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  That's why I asked you.  There is a big difference between doing this amount of reporting 52 types a year as opposed to doing it 12 times or four times.

MR. ROBERTS:  Right.  Huge.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, as I'm looking at this list and thinking about the impact of the reporting, I think I've suggested and I think you have agreed that one of the primary reasons to have this type of reporting is to enable someone like the Ontario Energy Board to look back on what the company is doing either during the course of the project or at the end of the project and to see whether or not it's acting prudently.

But would you agree with me that there is also a sort of a secondary and perhaps a more important impact, which is, it actually puts pressure on the company to act prudently?

MR. ROBERTS:  I guess indirectly if you had the outside group overseeing them I would agree that there probably is a little added pressure.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And that would be because having to make an external report means that there is no shortcuts.

MR. ROBERTS:  There's no shortcuts, but you're also going on record as to where the status of the job is, and someone is looking at your homework as you do it, so to speak.  You can't go back and put a different spin on it later.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Lastly, there was some discussion this morning about the difference, between using a P50 analysis for predicting future costs and for the purposes of predicting the contingency, and the P90.

And it occurred to me as I was listening to that that there might be -- different P values might be appropriate, depending on what exactly you're trying to do.  


I'll give you an example to see if you agree with me.  My understanding -- whether it's true or not, my understanding is that in negotiating with certain contractors during the course of the DRP, a P50 value was used for the purpose of determining the contingency that was going to be included in the contract.

And the contractor, in those instances, is actually at risk for any amounts over the contract amount including the P50.

So in that context, the P50 actually determines of amount of risk the contractor is going to take on.  Whereas in another context, the P50 the DRP context, the P50 is meant -- the P90 that's being proposed is really meant to show what the high end of the cost range should be, assuming just the base price plus the contingency amount assuming it occurs, and it's not actually setting in stone the recoverability of costs by the companies since the company is actually protected by legislation for its rudimentary costs.

So P50 might be appropriate in one context, but not in another and vice versa.  And vice versa; P90 might be appropriate in one context and not another.  Is that fair?

MR. ROBERTS:  There's a lot in that statement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I gave you my understanding of it.

MR. ROBERTS:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The basic question is do different P50 values make sense in different contexts?

MR. ROBERTS:  I guess in a theoretical world, as a general statement, I think anybody in the industry would rather have a more definitive estimate as they can.  And as I sit here, I can't tell you exactly what was the P value used when they negotiated the contract.

But if your example is right and it was a P50, my guess is that's as far as the system allowed them to get at that point in time.  And it wasn't necessarily a conscientious choice; in other words, they didn't have the data available of a P90 and then chose to use a P50.

And that -- I'm not familiar with anyone that I've come in encounter with that would be resistant to using a P90.  I think Galloway talked about it.  The truth of the matter is the vast majority of projects -- put aside megaprojects.  The vast majority of large capital improvement projects simply don't have the luxury of time, of the resources to develop a P90 before they go out.  That's just a fact.

So OPG has taken advantage, has by design made sure that they had that luxury of time and effort to develop that P90.

For the life of me, I'm not sure why anybody would be against using a P90.  It gives you a higher predictive analysis at the planning stage as to how things should go, which should result -- should result in a higher probability, if you can execute that plan, of a project coming in closer to budget, closer to schedule.

And your point, if I heard it correctly, of the higher end, I don't think people in the industry think of it as the higher end.  If you think there's some gamesmanship in the P90, then your energy should be focused to whether or not the contingency was set appropriately, whether there was fat on fat within the contingency.

I’ve got to tell you that in most projects, if you look at Flyvbjerg, you look at projects that failed, either  the planning wasn't right, the execution wasn't right, and there is a good portion they didn't get the contingency right.  They were just off.  It wasn't -- the planning was okay; they missed it by a smidge.  The execution was okay; they missed by a smidge.  And that results in being 50 million over budget.  Now everybody looks in hindsight and says, ah, you missed it.  Really?  You missed the mark in the sand, but overall the process was there.

So you have to be careful, I think, in thinking that that P90 somehow is the upper range of an analysis and that OPG in essence is trying to game you by using a P90.

If I put you on a plane and took you to ten other projects, ten other boards, I don't think you'd be hearing people saying P90 is trying to game the system and it's the upper range.  You might have a legitimate argument if you wanted to bite into the contingency and say whether that's the right number.

And with successive projects, if this thing comes in  -- if it’s set for 3.4 billion with a 677 contingency, you know, if it came in at 2.2, all right, you might have an argument that this was scaled way too high, that there was a game going in.  There is a sense that if the number comes in way too low, there was fat on fat, as they would say in the industry.

But what the Flyvbjerg, what the evidence should tell you on these megaprojects is, you know, in some sense, you might be want to go pop some champagne if OPG comes in and the problem is that they were too fat, and their estimates had fat on fat.  That is not the problem that most of these projects have.

So I don't -- can different P levels being used at different stages?  Yes.  My answer to you, though, is that different P levels are usually used at different stages because that's as far as they got in their analysis at the time they had to use it.  It's not that they chose to go with the lower, as opposed to a higher P factor -- if that answers your question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I didn't want to interrupt you, but I would -- as I recall, I don't recall suggesting anything about gamesmanship in my question.  So I'm not quite sure --


MR. ROBERTS:  When you said the higher end -- when I hear someone say they chose the higher end, that to me implies there's some gamesmanship.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That isn't what I was intending.  What I would ask you about is this:  At the end of the project, the project goes into service in 2020.

MR. ROBERTS:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Whether the forecast was based on a P50, or P90or P10 value --

MR. ROBERTS:  I hope it’s not a P10.

MR. BUONAGURO:  P10 is on the record; somebody asked about it.

In any event, regardless how it was forecast, there will be an actual contingency amount, right?

MR. ROBERTS:  I don't understand that question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  They will have spent contingency?

MR. ROBERTS:  There will be a number that represents the contingency spent on this job.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It will no longer be based on listing potential risks and extrapolating potential costs.  It will be actual risks that manifest themselves, actual costs incurred.

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And there will be evidence of how the company actually identified and dealt with those risks?

MR. ROBERTS:  Hopefully, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And it is possible that number is less than what was forecast?

MR. ROBERTS:  Less than the 677 identified today?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It's also possible it's larger.

MR. ROBERTS:  Definitely possible.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Under both possibilities, it may be the case there was concurrently no imprudent spending?

MR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Under both scenarios, it's also possible there is some imprudent spending?

MR. ROBERTS:  It's possible, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the way to figure that out, if the Board was so inclined, was to do an examination of some sort?

MR. ROBERTS:  I would just add to that.  As long as the Board had, for lack of better words, a line by line analysis by OPG as to how and when and why they spent the contingency, then you did could do the analysis.  But if there is not an explanation by OPG as to how contingency was spent, it would be difficult to do

So I’ve said this before in another question, there have been commissions, there have been proceedings where one of the undertakings of the owner to the board, the commission, is whether it's in periodic updates or at the end of the job to give a detailed explanation as to how, when, and why contingency was spent and explain why that fit under the, you know, definition of construction prudence.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  So that implies to me -- and I want you to confirm -- that absent that type of explanation, someone like the Ontario Energy Board would not be in a position to separate out -- I guess I'll call it true contingency spending and imprudent spending?


MR. ROBERTS:  I think it would be hard, but -- and I don't -- I mean, that's a -- it's an incomplete hypothetical.  I don't know.  I don't know what tools they would have or what the reporting would look like.  Certainly having an explanation by the owner on how and why they spent contingency goes a long ways to defending the prudency of that contingency and spend.


MR. BUONAGURO:  So I'll step back a bit, and you're saying it's a lot easier to make that determination if you have that kind of information.


MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And it's a lot harder in the absence of.


MR. ROBERTS:  Potentially a lot harder, yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.


Ms. Khoo.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Khoo:

MS. KHOO:  Good afternoon, Mr. Roberts.


MR. ROBERTS:  Good afternoon.


MS. KHOO:  My name is Cynthia Khoo, and I represent the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  I'm just going to get right into it, starting with returning to the issue of staffing.


If you have the VECC compendium in front of you, on page 16, which is page 25 of your testimony, you describe how essential it is to have a strong, capable, and experienced project management team that's able to coordinate and manage the project to mitigate risks, and I was wondering if you could give us a clearer detailed picture of some of the risks and potential consequences, whether through examples in your experience or scenarios you've seen, of what can happen if you lack a sufficiently qualified staff in carrying out a project of the size and scope of DRP?


MR. ROBERTS:  All right.  You're just way too ahead of me and too fast.  Which compendium --


MS. KHOO:  Oh, sorry.  Okay.  You're in the -- you have the compendium?


MR. ROBERTS:  I don't know.  It's not marked with your --


MS. KHOO:  VECC?  I think someone handed it earlier.


MS. LONG:  Let's take a moment to wait until Mr. Roberts has that.  Can Board Staff maybe check to make sure --


MR. ROBERTS:  Is it -- did you say SEC?


MS. KHOO:  VEC --


MS. LONG:  VEC --


MS. KHOO:  -- C.


MS. LONG:  -- C.


MR. ROBERTS:  Sorry.


MS. KHOO:  It's also just --


MR. RICHLER:  In the meantime, Madam Chair, we can give that an exhibit number.  K7.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K7.3:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR OEB STAFF PANEL 1D

MR. ROBERTS:  All right.  Was that handed to me before?


MS. KHOO:  I think so.  I'm sure that...


MR. ROBERTS:  I think it was.  All right.  Thank you.  I did have it.


MS. LONG:  So why don't you start again, Ms. Khoo, with --


MS. KHOO:  Sure.


MS. LONG:  -- what page you're on and read --


MS. KHOO:  I'll just start from the top.


MS. LONG:  -- the excerpt you're looking for.


MS. KHOO:  Okay.  Great.  So this is on page 16, which is page 25 of the testimony.


MR. ROBERTS:  Okay.  I'm on page 16 of your exhibit.


MS. KHOO:  Mm-hmm.  And just for reference, all the page numbers of the compendium are at the bottom left of each page.


MR. ROBERTS:  Right.


MS. KHOO:  So you describe how essential it is to have a strong, capable, and experienced staff in terms of project management to make sure everything is on-track.  So I was wondering if you could elaborate for us just based on your experience or examples that you've seen in the past, what are some of the risks and potential consequences of lacking a sufficiently qualified staff in carrying out and managing a project like this?


MR. ROBERTS:  Simply put, you're more likely not to be able to execute your plan, which would result in potential delays and scheduling costs.


MS. KHOO:  And would you be able to elaborate on that?


MR. ROBERTS:  I think that's pretty succinct.  If you don't have the staff, either in terms of depth or experience or capability, and they can't execute the plan, that could be the cause of -- you could have a great plan and not be able to execute it, and that causes the delay in the overruns to the project.


MS. KHOO:  Thank you.  Now, going to page 7 of the compendium, that features Dr. Galloway testifying that her team interviewed 15 individuals involved in the DRP at different levels and functions.


Could you give us some context as to whether that's a sufficient sample size to assess the quality of the management team?


MR. ROBERTS:  That's outside my area of testimony.  I could not give an opinion on that.


MS. KHOO:  Have you done a similar exercise like that before on other projects?


MR. ROBERTS:  I have.


MS. KHOO:  And so if you were -- had been asked to do this in this case, is this what you would have done, or what would you have done differently?


MR. ROBERTS:  As I sit here right now, given what I was tasked to comment on and provide testimony, there is no way I could tell you whether the 15 was sufficient or insufficient.  You know, Galloway has a pretty good reputation.  I don't think she would risk her reputation in doing an insufficient sampling for OPG or this hearing.  So she felt it was competent for her to give her weight.  I would leave that alone from my perspective.  I'm not touching that.  I have no basis to doubt the sufficiency of the sampling she did.


MS. KHOO:  And this is based on your knowledge of Dr. Galloway rather than of your own experience in doing this kind of work?


MR. ROBERTS:  That's not what I said.  I've done this kind of work.  I couldn't give you an opinion because I wasn't tasked as to what I would have done.  Had I been tasked with doing it, I'm not going to say yea or nay on Galloway's, you know, sampling of 15, other than she has a very good reputation, and I don't think that she would do a shortcut on sampling.


MS. KHOO:  Thank you.


Moving on to the next topic, which is dispute resolution.  This is on page 10 of the compendium.


MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.


MS. KHOO:  This is your response to a VECC interrogatory on the importance of timely dispute escalation and resolution.  I also noted earlier today when you said in 27 years one of the hallmarks of your work is that the projects you've been managing have never gone to litigation; is that correct?  Is that --


MR. ROBERTS:  I think that's right.  We've been brought in on projects that we weren't -- we've been brought in on projects where we were brought in to litigate on projects where we were working the project controls.  We've been successful in avoiding those from going to litigation.


MS. KHOO:  That seems extremely impressive, given this context.


So on page 13 of the compendium, which is page 46 of your testimony, you indicate that:

"This project lacks a mandatory mediation process as a condition precedent to arbitration, which eliminates an opportunity to mitigate adverse consequences."

And it seems like there would be some weight to this, given your experience with dispute resolution.  Could you please elaborate on how differently a dispute might play out in a project where there is mandatory mediation versus a project where there isn't?


MR. ROBERTS:  Well, let me just clarify this contract, the step negotiations through various steps from the field up through the committee, and then if they can't agree they go to arbitration, that's a different technique, and we also said in the report, you know, again, there's not -- it's not one way or the highway.  There is not a way to do it.  It's not -- in other words, it doesn't -- OPG does not fall below industry standards, because they don't have mediation in their contract.


What we commented on, what I do a lot of is that on projects -- on projects like this, if there is no problem in the field, if everybody does their work and there is no issue, you don't even get into ADR.  If the issues that they're dealing with are all inside the contingency, there is a higher likelihood that any issues that do percolate are able to be handled in the step negotiations, because there's enough money, there's enough leeway in the schedule, to make those problems work.


Our point was that when you get into a serious issue -

- and by that I mean there's a lot of money on the table, there's a huge consequence in time -- we found the use of that third party doing more of an evaluative mediation, which is not Caesar giving thumbs up or thumbs down on the issue, but really working the parties as to what does the contract say, what's the evidence, that sophisticated parties on tough issues where there is a lot at stake a lot of times need that third party beyond the business unit people to solve issues.


After I get done here, I'm doing one of the largest DOT projects in the United States and I'm going into -- and I'm the mediator facilitator and I’m going into my second to third week on the project, working with very large contractors, very sophisticated parties, and there are really tough issues as to contract interpretation and there's tough issues as to the factual issues.  They're business people -- and we're talking about some of the most sophisticated business people in North America -- and they weren't able to agree amongst themselves because of the dollars involved, and the consequences of the issues, and just the competing data and interpretations of the contract.

That's probably the third or fourth example of where the parties have called on me to come in and help them in that role because they weren't able to resolve it in essence in their own step negotiation.  And we're talking about very good attorneys on both sides.  We’re talking about highly, highly sophisticated contractors and proven owners that have done major projects.  So it's not that they left something on the table.  It’s that some of these issues can be difficult.

Our point was that we have found -- and that’s not to say that OPG is doing it wrong, but just that we have found that the use of mediation as an additional tool that when there is an issue, having that in the contract, making parties go to it, it allows for a better informed business decision before anybody takes the project commercial and/or goes to arbitration.

That's the point we're trying to make.  It's not a criticism of OPG.  It's an observation as to what we've seen in the field that has worked over the years.

MS. KHOO:  Understood, thank you.  Continuing on, this is actually not in the compendium, but is following up on some of the questions that Ms. Blanchard had earlier today.  It is pages 11 and 12 of your testimony, however, and this is the four step framework.

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MS. KHOO:  I was curious.  In terms of when you were having that conversation about data flowing up from the shop floor in order to provide for better analysis, what are some of the factors that would increase chances of continual and accurate data flow so you could get that better analysis?

MR. ROBERTS:  I'm not sure I understand the question.  Getting timely and accurate data and key metrics is the key to the data flow.

MS. KHOO:  For the people there on the shop floor and the people managing the project, how would this work in practice?

MR. ROBERTS:  It's the obligation of the contractor to provide the information that the owners' team needs to valuate where the project is on budget and schedule.

And again, I think, at least from the process and procedures that I reviewed, OPG has dotted the I and crossed the T both in policy and procedures and what they're requesting of the contractors and project controls to provide that data so that they should have a good data development arising from the shop floors to the status of this project.

MS. KHOO:  In reviewing your records, did you see anything that would pose a risk or decrease chances of that accurate data flow, or cause a breakage in that chain of information?

MR. ROBERTS:  No, because we were focused on the project development side, the planning stage, so the issue on that is how it's carried out in the field.

You can have the requirements in the contract.  You can have the requirements in your process and procedures.  The question is are the contractors actually given that data, and are they given in a meaningful way as intended by the policies and procedures and as intended by the Contract.

And that's a struggle that happens on all sorts of jobs, that you have a requirement in the contract.  You have a requirement in your process and procedures.  To your people that are watching it, it's a question can you actually get that data, are you getting it in a timely basis, are you getting it in a meaningful way the way you intended it to be.  That's the execution side of the contract.

MS. KHOO:  And so as we've established because the planning phase has been completed, it all does come down to execution.

On page 14 of your testimony, which is page 27 of the compendium, you say:
"An owners' compliance with industry standard risk mitigation planning does not guarantee the successful execution of the program or project."

You also say in several places that it's not a matter of if, but when, and how it's handled.

So given that, would it be possible for you to discuss what kind of planning would be entailed in getting as close as possible to, if not guaranteeing success, and at least facilitating to the greatest extent possible chances of that execution being completed and in compliance with what's provided for?

MR. ROBERTS:  I don't understand that question.

MS. KHOO:  It’s almost as if there's a few layers of management going on.  There is the planning, and then there is executing according to that plan.

But from what we've heard today, it seems like you almost need an additional plan in place to monitor and ensure that this execution is happening correctly.  Is that correct?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think that's the -- I'm not sure you need an additional plan in place.  I think that is -- that goes down to how OPG from the very top, from the chairman or CEO to whoever is manning the job, how that information is flowing up and how the decisions are made in ensuring that that information is timely and accurate and that, in other words, they're gathering information on a correct basis, that there is a robust discussion and that based on that data and analysis, there's decisions that are made.  That's the classic definition of prudence.

So I think that OPG has, in their process and procedures, procedures for that internal review.  That's how they execute it is where the money is.

MS. KHOO:  Thank you.  Moving on, in your testimony on pages 31 and 32 of the compendium, you discussed the Point Lepreau project in comparison to the DRP.  Can you please describe the outcomes of this project with respect to its budget and schedule?

MR. ROBERTS:  I believe it was over budget and over schedule.

MS. KHOO:  Based on your statement in there, you said it involved only one unit with a smaller reactor core, so it was a smaller scope project than Darlington.

In light of that, I was wondering if you can discuss the implications of the results of this project for the DRP from a risk management and project control perspective?

MR. ROBERTS:  It's a point of reference.  I think Pat Galloway and I are on the same page, that you can't take any one nuclear project and say it's a direct apples to apples comparison.

But in terms of it was a project, it was an interim project, and they missed budget and missed schedule, it's data point for everybody to see and it should reinforce that it’s hired to do these projects.

I don't have an in-depth knowledge of what happened at Point Lepreau at that time.  I'm familiar with it from several sources when I was working for other agencies.  But the point we're trying to make is we're asked to give comparisons and it's a CANDU reactor.  It was work done in Canada, and they missed budget they missed schedule.  That was the point we were trying to make.

MS. KHOO:  And would you say similarly I suppose for the Bruce nuclear project?  That's on pages 32 and 33 of the compendium.

I'm asking about it because you said it's the one that's the most similar to the Darlington refurbishment project, and again seemed to be less ambitious and smaller in scope.

MR. ROBERTS:  It's a fact that it was smaller in scope and it missed budget and schedule.

MS. KHOO:  In terms of comparing the level of planning that was put into that project compared to the level of planning out into this project, can you give comments on that?

MR. ROBERTS:  I can't tell you the level that was put into Bruce; I haven't analyzed that.  My understanding is, is that OPG in this project has had a lot more of a robust planning state, but I don't have a direct comparison.

MS. KHOO:  I believe that's all my questions.  Thank you.

MR. ROBERTS:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Khoo.  Mr. Keizer?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Keizer:

MR. KEIZER:  Good afternoon, Mr. Roberts.

MR. ROBERTS:  Good afternoon.

MR. KEIZER:  A few areas of questions for you.  I want to just chat about the -- your comments relating to FTEs, which I think begin at page 25 of your evidence.  And it's not so much to take you through any particular commentary or other aspects of your evidence, but in reading it, is it fair to say, I think, that when we talk about this -- and another way to talk about is in the context of resource planning, having sufficient resource planning to be able to execute the project?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think it's fair.  I mean, part of it is the staffing plan is -- but also is the, you know, capable, experienced project team.  So it's more than just resource planning, it's the quality.  But certainly that's an aspect of it.

MR. KEIZER:  Right.  So you would assume that -- and it would be correct to say that if you're looking at resource planning and making sure you have sufficient resources, albeit making sure they're of the quality that they -- that are required, that you'd be thinking about that as not only your internal employees, you'd be thinking about that in terms of any kind of contract employees or any other independent contractors you could have to fill out the resources that you would need, including -- I'm assuming as well that you could consider that within the context of owners, owner support services that you may actually contract for, as well as if you had the ability to -- and the flexibility to, to transfer employees from other areas to satisfy --


MR. ROBERTS:  Absolutely.  Take it a step farther, I think that to the degree an owner recognizes that they're falling short on planning and staff that they at least initially were thinking maybe they'd do internally, you know, I think most projects that go in front of a commission, you know, have it deemed to be prudent when they go out and fill that gap with external sources.  That's recognizing the need and it's identifying, you know, a corrective action and bringing them in from external sources is certainly part of the game and meets the need.  So absolutely.

MR. KEIZER:  So I just wanted now to turn your attention to your Exhibit K7.1 that you -- was filed this morning as part of, I think, the VECC interrogatory.  And I just want to make sure I understood what you said earlier about this, is that if I look at this list that looks fairly detailed and has a lot of aspects that are covered, that this is an example of, it's not necessarily particular to a particular project, but it is somewhat of an overview the nature of the reporting.

But it would be the reporting that one would expect either up to an owner or to some other party providing oversight in respect of the project; is that fair?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  It wouldn't necessarily be fully applicable in a regulatory context.

MR. ROBERTS:  Correct --


MR. KEIZER:  Focusing on the word --


MR. ROBERTS:  -- correct.

MR. KEIZER:  -- "fully."


MR. ROBERT:  It's not full, yeah, correct.  And I think I answered someone else saying that you -- so if it was aimed at OEB Board, you would -- you try to custom-tailor it to your audience as to what they want and what they're focused on, and you're not trying to just put what you think is important, that you actually have a very effective report.  If I'm reporting to you and you're a decision-maker, I'm trying to keep you informed of the project.  I give you an example of what I want to do, and you look at it and go, "I understand.  One, I understand.  What is item three?  I don't understand that."  And it's my obligation not to say, "Well, you better learn what I meant by three."  I need to fit my block into your cube.  I need to get, you know, a report data that makes sense for you as a decision-maker to make that informed decision.

So in any report I think that this is just an example, but whoever you're giving it to, that end user, a good report is custom-made as to what they want to see, what makes sense to them, so that they understand the data in a context that allows them to make an informed decision.

MR. KEIZER:  Now, one of the other things I wanted to ask you about, and this was this -- you have the four factors which you've set out in your evidence, and there was some discussion this morning, I believe, about the application of those four factors in the consideration and the context of contingency.

So if I understand contingency correctly -- maybe I'll be displaying my ignorance here.  I'll go with caution.  But in any event, I'll just put it right out there -- is that effectively what I've done as a project proponent is assessed the risks, I've considered the risks, in a very simplified way I've considered the risk, and there are risks that I can otherwise somehow know that I will have to mitigate them, and I may be able to mitigate them with action, but I may have to mitigate them with the consequence that triggers the expenditure of funds, and by virtue of that expenditure of funds over and above the existing costs because of the project I would have to expend contingency to remedy that risk if that risk did arise.

That's effectively the relationship between contingency and risk, is it not?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think that's fair.  I just add to it that it's not done in isolation.  Typically there is a dialogue, you did that, and you're reporting to me, and you said, "Roberts, I got two options.  I think this could happen.  If it does it's two.  I can put that in the budget.  There's a chance it doesn't happen, so I don't want to put it in the budget, but I'm putting it in the contingency.  So I have a contingency of two."


So that, you know, most project budgets and the contingency, there actually is a methodology as to what was put in the budget, what was put into the contingency, and you need to understand that methodology of whoever put together the budget to then make the point you did.

MR. KEIZER:  And so in the application of your four factors in the context of a contingency, there may be actually quite a one-to-one direction between the event happened, the contingency amount was triggered, and it flowed either -- you know, in some degree of the estimated value --


MR. ROBERTS:  And someone asked that question because you used the four on contingency and I said yes, and I said on some of it would be a pretty cursory analysis.  We anticipated this event could occur.  We didn't have it in the budget, but we had it in the contingency.  That event did occur, and this is the contingency we used on it, and that's what I meant by, it would be a cursory analysis.

MR. KEIZER:  So in circumstances where it would be applied, where it wouldn't be a cursory analysis, is it some other form of risk evaluation?  Is it a nature of the risk that you would associate it, a risk that you otherwise weren't able to quantify?

MR. ROBERTS:  Well, it would be -- so where I've seen the prudency review applied to contingency is -- let me give you an example.  You had three events.  This is in hindsight, right?  You had three events, and you had a contingency of 10.  In three events that you spent, four in each of those contingencies wasn't clear what your original contingency was for that line item, but you spent four.

So now you're over the overall contingency because you're at a 12, and now there is a fourth and a fifth event and you don't have any money.  And in hindsight on a contingency review you've overspent what those events should have been, and on a contingency factor you weren't pacing yourself as to the likelihood of these other events and/or signposting management or the board that we're running out of contingency and we have more high-probability events coming.

So it's more than just the individual item that was maybe identified as a potential for contingency.  The prudency is when, you know, the pacing -- the spending of the contingency, if it was more than was anticipated, you know, why.

You could have an event, and the fact that you spend -- let's say on that one example you anticipated spending two.  You actually spent four.  The fact that you spent four doesn't mean it's imprudent.  Doesn't mean you were wrong.  It means you missed your initial estimate in the contingency, and there could have been valid reasons why you missed it.  So this analysis of the data, the volume of information flow, could confirm you did everything you could have when you were setting up the budget, setting up the contingency, but that event, through no fault of your own, was of a factor two times larger than you anticipated.

MR. KEIZER:  In effect, when you said in hindsight the issue is when looking at the pacing of contingency, one would assume that with the proper application of your monitoring and proper application of your internal reporting, or reporting within the context of the project, if you saw the contingency pacing in a certain way, you would then take mitigating action or remedial action to see and determine why it's pacing in the manner it is?

MR. ROBERTS:  Or at least give a heads-up to your bosses that you're spending -- assume the contingency spend is correct, no dispute that it's too much or improper.  If you anticipated that through the first five months, your contingency spend would be 5 percent and let's say it's 12 percent, that doesn't mean the project is headed to hell in a hand-basket.  But you have a data point that if that trend continued, could that be a problem later in the project. 

So yes, let people know it so that you have an opportunity -- by mitigating it doesn't mean you eliminate the contingency; maybe more contingency needs to be added. But people are on record, they’re on notice that you might have a higher contingency spend than anticipated and you're not catching them flat-footed as to if and when that day comes.

MR. KEIZER:  And with respect to the commentary you made relating to independent monitoring, is there not a relationship within the context of a project where to the extent that a project has built within it independent oversight, truly independent -- external third parties reviewing within the context of the project, reporting independently and objectively to decision-makers within the organization or those that control the organization -- that with the greater degree to which there is that independent oversight, is there not a lesser degree then to have a further layer of independent monitoring at a regulatory level?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think the trend in the industry is different than your point.

MR. KEIZER:  One other question for you, and that relates to -- I think actually, just to make sure there is no confusion on the record, there were a few times this morning that you mentioned Unit 2 and I believe it was in the context of Pickering, and we’ve got a Unit 2 here n the context of Darlington.

MR. ROBERTS:  I'm talking about Pickering.

MR. KEIZER:  Is it Pickering 1?

MR. ROBERTS:  I was referring, sorry, to the Units -- was it Unit 4 and Unit 2?  Or Unit 4 and Unit 1, excuse me, the basis of the Epp and the Manley reports.  If I got the numbers wrong --

MR. KEIZER:  That’s okay.  I just want to make sure for anyone reading it that we have the right unit attached to the right facility.

MR. ROBERTS:  I was referring to the units associated with --


MR. KEIZER:  Understood.

MR. ROBERTS:  Unit 4 would have been the Epp, Unit 1 would have been Manley.  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I have a moment, Madam Chair?

MS. LONG:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  I've gone through my notes.  We have no further questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.  Mr. Roberts, the panel has a few questions for you.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Robert, I noted appendix 2 attached to your report is an example of megaprojects with cost overruns.  And I believe an earlier interrogatory answer refers to that being primarily from the Flyvbjerg report.

MR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.

MS. SPOEL:  It’s a bit sobering when you look at things being 1900 percent overrun.

But what I wondered on this in general -- I'm assuming the Suez Canal refers to the rebuild in 2014, and not the original build in the 1860s.  I thought maybe lessons learned, and then I thought hmmm ...

MR. ROBERTS:  I think you're right on that.

MS. SPOEL:  Is there any information on any of these as to what the baseline budget was, or what stage the baseline budget was?

 I know the Scottish parliament building, for example, the second was -- the original budget was supposed to be 50 million pounds, and it ended up being 400 million pounds, or something in that range.  But that 50 million was done before there was any design work, before architects were employed, before anything was really done they said it's going to cost 50 million.  Is there any way of sort of giving some context to what the percentage over -- what it's a percentage over of?

MR. ROBERTS:  Over?

MS. SPOEL:  What the baseline is, at what stage the baseline --


MR. ROBERTS:  I don't think you can ascertain that from Flyvbjerg.  He’s written a bunch on it.  Typically, he tries to find the baseline budget.  But as I sit here right now, I couldn't tell you.

On that basis, when we give you the examples of other nuclear refurbishments, that would be an easier task to do, to say what was their baseline versus what it actually come into, the various actual nuclear refurbishments.

But on Flyvbjerg, no.  As I sit here now -- I read the articles last night -- not that I'm an exciting guy, but in reviewing those articles, I couldn't tell you that answer.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Roberts, I just have a few questions for you.

On page 42 of your report -- and I'll wait til that comes up -- halfway down the page, you talk about the concept of demanding a recovery plan, and I think you make the observation here with respect to the way this contract is devised and that OPG waits until there's actual disincentives.

Are you saying that another option would be to be a bit more proactive and have that based on, I guess, interim milestones?  Is that what you're saying in this report, that that’s another way to do it?

MR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  To be fair, I don't have it in front of me -- OPG would say -- I think it's 2.3 in their schedule gives them the ability to ask for a recovery schedule.  And the term in contract it's specifically 8.6 that kicks in on a contractual basis when you miss the disincentive, then you have to give the schedule.

Our point was that what we're saying -- and again, this is isn't a criticism of OPG's contract.  I want to make clear that we have done over 20 billion on contracts.  You can take any one of our contracts and not only do I think we're good, but I think the industry thinks we're good doing contracts, and you could look at any one of our contracts and find something that can be improved.  There is no perfect contract; I don't care who writes it.

But one of our points would be that it takes the -- as opposed to the owner being able to require that if the schedule is not to their liking, it's cleaner and clearer when there are milestones that are not met long before you get to a critical area, that if those milestones aren't met that’s indicative of a project not meeting performance, that's when you want to see the recovery.  And you don't want to have any squabbling amongst the contractors as to what another provision means and did you meet it.

So there are other provisions in the OPG contract where they can require schedule recovery, but the only ones we found where it's contractually mandated, i.e. you don't do X, you’ve got to get the recovery schedule, that was 8.6.

Our point was, and it's just a comment, is that it's cleaner, it's easier, if that is tied to a milestone that's clear and unambiguous that if that's not met, you expect to see a recovery schedule.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.  I just wanted to better understand the distinction there.

Something we've heard a lot about is the risk register.  We’ve heard an awful lot of questions about that.  But I just want to ask you the question.  Obviously it's important to do it.  Obviously it's important that the process be followed, that it's a robust risk register, but I think what I understood your comments to be, it's great to have it, but there can still obviously be risks beyond that, so when you get out into the field you're going to run into risks that you haven't contemplated.

So I guess the question I'm asking you is how much weight should this Panel put on the fact that OPG did a comprehensive risk register?

MR. ROBERTS:  I mean, it's solid evidence of the robustness, the level of effort they did in the planning state.  I mean, we give OPG their credit and their due for the level of effort they put in the planning stage.  It's a very good thing.  It should help give chances this project being successful a higher mark.  So doing an in-depth risk registry is good.

But you can identify a risk in the risk registry.  Think of it as, I identified the rock in the road, and I look and I identify the rake in front of you.  Do you see that rake, and you say, Ken, I do see it, and you keep walking towards it.  Do you really see that rake?  Got it.  You keep walking towards it, and I say, Oh, there is a rake right in front of you.  I've got it.  Be quiet.  Whack.

It was in the risk registry, you know, you just didn't execute it in the field.  That's -- so there's -- you know, when we talk about risk, there's the risk of actually navigating the rocks in the road on these projects.  Those are hard to do, and so you look at all of the projects and all the effort and people missing those budgets, and there is a good portion of those where the team just was not successful at executing in the field.  It's not that they didn't -- it's not they missed it in their risk registry.  They just weren't able to navigate it.

And there is also -- and on top of that there could be items that were identified in the risk registry and I said, you know, this is just going to be a little pin prick, and you look down and you're missing your arm.  It's like, hey, well, right, I missed a little bit, but the consequences of that pin prick, right?

So the magnitude of it I can miss.  And then there are situations where there was something that happened in the field and it was not even identified in the risk registry.  And then that is really where you get into the prudency issue of when -- you know, should you have known and should you have identified it.

But in each of those if there is something -- a rock in the road and then you failed to navigate it, those four questions come in.  Why did you see the rock in the road?  Did you take appropriate efforts?  Did you just fail in the execution?

But those are three common risks that you see on these large projects and where owners, contractors, you know, lose schedule, lose dollars.  Keep in mind nobody in their right mind sets out on one of these projects to lose money, to miss schedule.  There's going to be people that are missing their children's birthdays.  You know, there's people over the course of this job, they're likely to have a heart attack and die on that site.

These projects take a tremendous amount out of the people that work them.  And I will tell you, you know, I've never seen a contractor, I've never seen a subcontractor, a key supplier, key people in ownership, have never seen anybody intentionally try to screw up the budget or the schedule.  They're giving their all to make it happen, but in spite of that on the majority of these jobs they miss it, and I would say that the three risks I just gave you, not being able -- that you identified the rock in the road and you just couldn't identify it, you identified the rock in the road but I thought it was a pebble and it ended up being a boulder, or you just simply missed the risk and got caught flat-footed, those are three examples that historically have been subject of a prudency review as to whether or not the owner did the right thing as they encountered that risk.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  My last question to you -- and this is somewhat of an OPG aside -- based on all the projects that you've worked on, is there anything beyond project management planning and the people that you have in place that you would say to this Panel are predictive of execution success?  So if you've got the planning, you've got the process, and you've got the people, I would imagine those would be good indicators --


MR. ROBERTS:  Yeah.

MS. LONG:  -- that execution is going to go well.  But is there anything else that you've seen in other projects that we should be looking for in this project?

MR. ROBERTS:  I think that on government jobs like this I would tell you the transparency to the government is critical, just in terms of a confidence factor, so on Unit 1, I get there under the -- under Manley, the tone at the top from OPG was as good as anything I've ever seen in the industry.  Whether it was Dicerni, when he was running OPG, whether it was Hankins when he -- Hankinson when he was running OPG, I would on any given day go across to the government's office right across the street from OPG as much as I would go into OPG's office to give an update.

If there was anything that was going on on the job and I happened to give it to Dicerni or Hankinson or Epp, the first words out of their mouth were, Have you given this information to the government?


So that there was -- there was -- the transparency on that was actually stunning, and I don't think there is anybody that could complain or have any type of hesitation that OPG bent over backwards.

The second thing is that these are big commercial contracts, and the idea that it's somehow an academic board game, that you check this box or you make this decision and everything falls out, is wrong.

As the project develops and issues come across, there was a heck of an effort at the top of OPG to make sure that the -- when I say the senior management of the contractors on Unit 1, I mean their chairman, their president.  We met on a regular basis and had lunch, had dinner, and talked about the project, talked about the data.  And the level of commitment from the top management of those contractors to the top management of OPG to the top of the government was as good as I've seen it.


And I think that that model, when I look at other projects where the top executives are -- not just that there is a committee taking care of it or I've got Bob that's taking care of it, but the buck stops with me, that I -- if this thing doesn't go right I have got to be held accountable.  And if the, you know, if the president of that contractor, chairman of the board of that contractor has the same engagement, it tunes up everybody, for lack of better words, that this is going to be not normal project and that everybody better bring their A game, everybody better look at the data hired, that everybody better be accurate as to where something is.

And I think that the answer to your question, it goes beyond just -- you can have project controls, you can have data reporting, but it's what you do with that information.  That's something that nobody has talked about.  Information in and of itself is great, but it's the rake example.  I tell you there's a rake five feet ahead of you.  I got it.  There's a rake four feet ahead of you.  I got it.  There's a rake two feet.  I got -- yeah.  All right.  Am I actually going to tackle you?  Am I going to physically restrain you before that rake hits you in the head?  You know, that's a judgment call, right?  But that's actually how you stop something bad from happening.


And I think that that level of dialogue and commitment on these big projects when you really -- you know, it's not assigned to a committee, it's not -- you know, it's not five different check the boxes, but the buck stops with me.


I would tell you that if you go back to the Unit 1, there was from the chairman to the president to the person out on the site running it, Bill Robinson, to the contractors that were involved, there were chairmans of the boards of those contractors that met -- I met on a regular basis and I gave an unfiltered dialogue to him, that he then went and checked with what he was getting from his team, and that level of effort, I think, is the effort that's required so that everybody is making an informed business decision and doing everything they can to solve those issues that are going to come up in the field.  That's just a matter of time.  It’s not a question of if; those are going to come up.


That's one of the hallmarks, I think, over time that I've seen on these big projects is that level of commitment from the very top on every level, from the government, to the owner, to the contractors.


MS. LONG:  Thank you for that.  Mr. Richler, do you have any redirect?

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  If I could have one second to confer?

MS. LONG:  Sure.

MR. RICHLER:  Madam Chair, we have no redirect.

MS. LONG:  Thank you for your testimony, Mr. Roberts.  You are excused.

MR. ROBERTS:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  We're going to take -- I think we'll take a 10-minute break and just switch panels.
--- Recess taken at 2:45 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:57 p.m.

ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 2A(II), Resumed

John Mauti,
Chris Fralick,
Randy Pugh, Previously Affirmed

MS. LONG:  Welcome back, panel.  Mr. Smith, any preliminary matters we need to deal with?

MR. SMITH:  No preliminary matters.

MS. LONG:  Okay.  Ms. Grice, are you ready to do your cross-examination?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, I am, thank you.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Grice:

MS. GRICE:  Good afternoon, panel.  Shelly Grice, representing AMPCO, and I do have a compendium that needs to be marked as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K7.4. 
EXHIBIT NO. K7.4:  AMPCO CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR OPG PANEL 2A(I)

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  So I just want to start off by saying that AMPCO's nuclear rate-setting framework questions have been adequately covered by others, so the questions that I'm going to be asking are related to OPG's business planning process and how information flows through the organization and down to the nuclear business units.

So if we can start first by turning to page 9 of my compendium.

MS. LONG:  We'll just wait a minute until we have it up on the screen.

MS. GRICE:  Yeah, I'm sorry, page -- yeah, my page numbers are on the bottom, and I numbered my title page, so I'm sorry, it throws it off a bit.  Sorry about that.

MS. LONG:  That's it, I think.

MS. GRICE:  Yes, that's it.  Thank you.

Okay.  The evidence on this page refers to OPG establishing four committees to focus on areas critical to OPG's success, and one of those committees is the audit and risk committee, and there's a description provided here on page 9 of my compendium.  I'm just going to read the last bit of the description that starts the third line from the bottom, which is:

"Additionally, the committee's responsible for the oversight of enterprise-wide risk and associated risk management activities.  The committee reviews management's assessment of the principal risks to achieving the company's strategic and business plan objectives and the strategies for monitoring and responding to these risks."

And if we can now turn to page 6 of my compendium, which is OPG's org chart.  I just want to explore how some of the business functions interface with the audit and risk committee.

So if we look at the two audit groups that I've highlighted under the VP of assurance and chief audit executive, there is an internal audit group and a nuclear oversight audit group.

And can I just first start by asking, is this a new configuration of your audit function in this application?

MR. MAUTI:  New in relation to our previous application?

MS. GRICE:  Right.  Yes.

MR. MAUTI:  Which may be I guess on page 7 of your compendium?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, I've got the org chart from there as well.

MR. MAUTI:  The change from 2013, but it actually has changed subsequent to what you see on page 6 as well.  There was a recent change that our president put through to actually -- actually split up the internal audit and nuclear oversight group with internal audit moving under the chief financial officer and the nuclear oversight group moving into the chief nuclear officer.

MS. LONG:  Sorry.  Can you say that again?  Sorry.

MR. MAUTI:  Yeah, the internal audit group moved under the CFO, SVP finance, strategy, risk, and the nuclear oversight organization moved under the nuclear president and chief nuclear officer organization.

MS. FRY:  So the VP assurance and chief audit executive, does that position exist any more?

MR. MAUTI:  There is a vice-president of internal audit reporting in to the chief financial officer.  I'm not 100 percent sure how the nuclear oversight organization reports into the nuclear president and CNO organization --


MS. FRY:  Okay.  But that box, it says VP assurance and chief audit executive doesn't exist any more.

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  There is no box reporting directly to the president.

MS. FRY:  Okay.

MS. GRICE:  Would it be possible for you to file an updated org chart for OPG?

MR. MAUTI:  Sure, we can do that.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, we can do that.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That's J7.2. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.2:  TO FILE AN UPDATED ORG CHART FOR OPG.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So given the movement of those groups, I just want to understand how they interface and interact with the audit and risk committee.  Can you help me understand that?

MR. MAUTI:  Sure.  The vice-president of internal audit is under the chief financial officer, regularly provides reports to the quarterly audit and risk committee.  That position also has the enterprise risk management function for the company.  So it's been combined under that one executive, does both internal audit and enterprise risk, and they have regular quarterly meetings of the audit and risk committee, where this executive produces a report, talks about the audits that have been undertaken and completed during the most previous quarter, and provides sort of a status update for them.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And nuclear oversight?

MR. MAUTI:  This may be a question better for panel --the next panel on nuclear operations to ask.  There is some sort of reporting through the nuclear oversight committee that I believe does happen.

MS. GRICE:  Is there reporting through the audit and risk committee from nuclear oversight?

MR. MAUTI:  Not through the audit and risk committee, but I believe through another one of the board committees.

MS. GRICE:  My understanding is both of those groups, internal audit and nuclear oversight, both perform auditing functions; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, in a way.  The distinction is for the nuclear oversight organization tends to do audits more of a nuclear operational engineering, more of a technical nature, in terms of how those nuclear functions perform and operate, whereas the internal audit function tends to do more, what I guess most people would consider the typical internal audit function, whether it's financial controls, value for money controls, and process controls and the like.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And in terms of the areas that are the subject of the audits, who determines that?

MR. MAUTI:  The vice-president of internal audit, after discussion with the fellow members of the executive level and process leaders, including myself, for financial areas, puts together an audit plan that is tabled with the audit and risk committee.  I believe they use a sort of a cyclical basis to ensure various functions are covered on a regular basis, and that plan gets approved by the audit and risk committee and then the reporting that's done quarterly is against that plan and progress.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And on the same chart you show a chief risk officer under the VP of -- SVP finance strategy risk and CFO division.  And my understanding is that's a new position that's been added, and --


MR. MAUTI:  What -- sorry.

MS. GRICE:  Sorry.  Sorry.

MR. MAUTI:  No, the risk portion of that function has been now merged with the internal audit function, so that's where there is one now executive that does both internal audit and the enterprise risk management function.

MS. GRICE:  So there no longer is a chief risk officer?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe this individual's title might be assurance and chief risk.  I would have to double-check her exact title.

MS. GRICE:  That will show up in the updated org chart.

MR. MAUTI:  It should be in the new org chart, yes.

MS. GRICE:  So is that position a new person that's come in from the outside to fulfil that function or was that filled internally?

MR. MAUTI:  The individual who was the VP assurance and chief audit executive I believe has been with OPG probably four to five years, and so that function got merged with the chief risk officer role that had been done by an individual who had been with the company several years as well, so no new individual come into OPG to manage that function.  It's just been a reorganization of those two functions under one existing executive.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.

If we can turn to page 18 of the compendium.  And I know this was an interrogatory asked under the Darlington refurbishment project, but I just wanted to take a look at it because it just says, at the beginning at the top of the page that:

"During the period January 1, 2014, to September 30, 2016, nuclear oversight performed 45 audits and assessments," and that's broken down into 34 audits and 11 assessments, and a list of the projects or type of audits are listed in this interrogatory.

And I believe OPG provided some of these audits as part of a another interrogatory.  But can you just help me understand how the subject of the nuclear oversight audits is determined?

MR. MAUTI:  I would be the wrong person to ask that question of, unfortunately.

MS. GRICE:  I'll save for that the nuclear operations panel.

Can we then please turn to page 25 -- sorry, page 26 of my compendium?  This chart lists all of the internal audits completed between 2014 and Q3/2016.

I know that OPG has filed some of these as part of interrogatories under the Darlington refurbishment project, but there's an audit that caught my eye after our discussion today with Mr. Roberts regarding the importance of project controls on nuclear projects.

There's an audit on the second page partway down, and the description is "ARC 2016 Q1 project controls, projects and modifications, P&M group".

I wonder if OPG would be willing to file that audit?

MR. MAUTI:  I’m not sure of the subject matter of that audit, but we can go back and look and provide that, I'm assuming, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  J 7.3. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.3:  TO PROVIDE THE DESCRIBED AUDIT DOCUMENT


MS. GRICE:  Thank you.

MS. LONG:  Just a moment, Ms. Grice.

MR. SMITH:  We can file the report.  The only reason I pause is I don't know the purpose to which the document is to be put, and the document has not been put to the Darlington -- if it hasn't been provided and wasn't asked for, and wasn't put to the Darlington refurbishment program panel, and isn't put to the nuclear panel, I do have a general fairness question about it.

I don't know what my friend intends do with the document, so we'll produce it and deal with it if we have to at a later time.

MS. GRICE:  My thought is that if we can get the document filed before the nuclear operations panel, I believe that the P&M group is not specific to Darlington.  It manages projects that are part of the nuclear portfolio.

MS. LONG:  I think we have a bit of a break next week before the nuclear panel will be up, so perhaps you can take a look at the document and we can deal with it at that juncture.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  If we can turn to page 31, please, this part of OPG's evidence talks about the business case requirements for project release.  I'll read the first paragraph:
"Approval is required for the release of funds to undertake project work.  The documentation for seeking approval is a business case summary, which provides an explanation of the need and the business opportunity, along with an analysis of feasible alternatives for meeting this need and the rationale for the recommended alternative."

And if we turn the page, I just provided an example -–sorry, if we can go to page 33, I just provided an example of a document that I want to clarify.  I believe what this document does is it amends the business case summary with this form, which is a project over variance approval form.  And I want to make sure that I have the right understanding of when this form is used.

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, this generally would be used after a business case summary has been approved and work has been executed, and if there's an over variance on that project, a control form is used and a process to review the expenditure against the original business case summary release and with explanations provided as to why the cost or schedule has changed and it would be approved subsequently through our approval process within OPG.

MS. GRICE:  In terms of OPG's evidence, if you had a business case summary that's been amended by this form, the evidence you provided on the project is this form.  Is the original business case typically included as well?

MR. MAUTI:  Sorry, I don't follow your question.  Try that again?

MS. GRICE:  My question is does this form replace the original business case?

MR. MAUTI:  No, we always keep the original business case obviously.  In terms of trying to understand what's happened with the project, we have all the approval documentation.  This would be part of that as well.

So it doesn't supersede the business case.  It's an amend to it.

MS. GRICE:  Is there a threshold in terms of cost or schedule that triggers the development of this form?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, we have what we call the organizational authority register within OPG that determines various levels that any over expenditure would have to go to, on either a dollar or a percentage threshold.

MS. GRICE:  Are there absolute numbers for that?

MR. MAUTI:  I am trying to remember back.  I believe there are absolute numbers and/or percentages.  I'm trying to remember which of the two are used; it may be a combination of both.

MS. GRICE:  Could we get those so we can understand when this form is needed to be filed in terms of the project development?

MR. MAUTI:  That specific authority that deals with project over variance expenditures?

MS. GRICE:  What the absolute numbers are or percentage for cost and schedule.

MR. MAUTI:  We can do that and depending on the timing, I may be able to find out before the end of the day.  But yes, we can.

MS. LONG:  Are you asking that with respect to nuclear projects or any projects?  I don't know if there is a difference, a different level or percentage, or -- I'm not quite clear what it is you're asking.

MS. GRICE:  My thought was it would apply to all projects, but perhaps my understanding is not complete.

MR. MAUTI:  We can give you the number.  I believe it's for all projects, but the ones specifically for nuclear, obviously we'll provide those to you.

MS. LONG:  For all projects but -- why don't we leave it at for all projects?

MR. MAUTI:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is K7.4. 
UNDERTAKING NO. K7.4:  TO PROVIDE THE THRESHOLD NUMBER FOR ALL PROJECTS


MS. GRICE:  Staying on this page, at the top of the page it says:

"This form should not be used for over variances in excess of 20 percent of cost or schedule or both.  Submit this form..." -- sorry, I'll stop there.
"This form should not be used if you have a cost variance of 20 percent of cost or schedule or both."

 My understanding is this form applies up until 20 percent and when you're greater than 20 percent, you have to file -- or you typically file a superseding business case.  Is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe it is correct, yes.

MS. GRICE:  Would that 20 percent threshold apply to all projects?

MR. MAUTI:  Our projects governance deals with all projects within the company.  We don't have special sort of rules just for nuclear, or other kinds of projects.  It would be any project within OPG, yes.

MS. GRICE:  If the Darlington refurbishment project went 20 percent over schedule, or 20 percent over cost, you would file a superseding business case?   Would that be the in ex step?

MR. MAUTI:  There may be perhaps tighter or different requirements in terms of the Darlington B.C.S.  Again, this is a generic form for generic projects.  The levels of control and requirements for the refurbishment program tend to be very specific and detailed.  So I don't want to just assume it's automatically carried across the refurbishment project.

MS. GRICE:  Do you ever, in terms of the life of a project, get into a situation where you're superseding business case is exceeded in terms of cost or schedule? Would you be in a position there where you would have to file another form?

MR. MAUTI:  I'm sure that can happen.  I'm sure if you look at our history, it probably has happened in the past, but...


MS. GRICE:  And if it did happen, would that be another project over variance approval form?

MR. MAUTI:  It would again depend on the level of that variance and whether that triggers having another superseding release, or just a variance approval form.

MS. GRICE:  There is no additional new form for that scenario?

MR. MAUTI:  No, we don’t have a special one for a second superseding release, or a second variance approval form, no. 

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  Can we go back, please, to page 31.  I just wanted to ask a couple questions regarding your post-implementation review process, which is at the bottom of this page.  And it says here that:

"The post-implementation review process is used by OPG to assess achievements following completion of projects.  Specifically, a PIR is an appraisal process designed to evaluate whether planned results of a given investment have been met following project completion.  The two main objectives of the PIR process are to verify whether the benefits stated in the project business case were realized and to capture the lessons learned from each project so that they can be applied to improve future projects and investment decisions."

And the next paragraph -- sorry, on the next page, which is 32, says that:

"Post-implementation reviews follow a simplified or comprehensive format depending on the size and scope of the investment involved.  All projects must have a PIR completed as specified in the PIR plan ideally within 12 months of the project being completed."

So there were some questions asked in interrogatories about this process, and if we can please just turn to page 38 of the compendium.  This is Undertaking JT3.22, and this was filed in response to CCC interrogatory 8, where OPG indicated that typically you do about 20 post-implementation reviews a year, and the undertaking asked for you to file what PIRs you had done in the last 12 months, and this list was produced.

So I just wanted to start by clarifying, so for every project that you do you have to do a PIR?  Is that what your evidence is saying?

MR. MAUTI:  It did say that per the post-implementation review plan, often cases projects that are completed there is documentation referred to as a project completion report that has oftentimes taken the place of the PIR for certain projects that are what I will say rather routine or straightforward in nature that going through a full PIR process was deemed to be an excessive expenditure of effort.

So it can be either handled through the project completion reports, through a simplified PIR, or, in very limited cases, through a comprehensive PIR that requires a lot more intensive effort and cross-functional teams involved.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Are lessons learned captured in a project completion report?

MR. MAUTI:  They may be, depending again on the scope of the project, the simplicity of it.  I believe the -- in our evidence response, an example we used was if you're repaving a parking lot or access road to a facility, it may be fairly straightforward without a lot of need for trying to identify benefits or even lessons learned, so it would depend.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Now, just in this list that you have in this undertaking, I noted that the actual cost for the majority of these projects is at budget or under budget, which is great.  But I just -- it struck me then with projects that are over budget, do you not do a post-implementation review on those, or is that captured in another process?

MR. MAUTI:  Again, depending on the scope and the nature of the project, the materiality of it, the size of any variance, there could be the opportunity to ask for or acquire a PIR in some cases.  So it's not as if overspent projects automatically get a PIR and underspent don't.  You'll notice a few of them here underspent and there is still the requirement for the post-implementation review, so a lot of it depends on the nature of the project and whether in its execution there's either a question on the benefits that have been obtained from the project, which is why you might require a PIR, or if it's a kind of project where you believe that there would be a sufficient value from a lessons learned investigation or assessment.

MS. GRICE:  So can I take it from this list then in the last 12 months there have been no PIRs done on projects that were over budget?

MR. MAUTI:  This is the complete list for the time frame of November 15 to October of 2016 of PIRs that were completed.  If there are any PIRs that were in progress and not completed, that could -- it depends on when you cut off this list and whatnot.  But completed PIRs during this period, there were none done for an overspend project, it looks like, no.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Now, you mentioned that you occasionally do comprehensive implementation reviews as well.  If a project was significantly over budget would it be a candidate then for a comprehensive implementation review?  Is that the distinction that needs to be made?

MR. MAUTI:  The comprehensive generally gets into projects that are a very significant magnitude, and I know your compendium has, for example, the Niagara tunnel project for hydroelectric with the size of it requiring that, so depending on -- and if it's a project that it's had, you know, issues with its implementation or its execution, that might be the cause or the need to escalate it to a comprehensive PIR status.

MS. GRICE:  And do you have a number of how many of those you do a year on average?

MR. MAUTI:  No, I know in this past -- the 12-month period in the response to this PIR, I do not believe any comprehensive PIRs were done.  There was one that was included in the undertaking.  That was done, I believe, in 2013.

So they do not happen often.  They tend to -- they take a very long time to do and somewhat expensive as well, and so the magnitude of doing that would limit their execution for very specific needs.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And your evidence is that these PIRs are ideally to be done within a 12-month time frame of the project being completed.  Would that be the case with the PIRs on this list?

MR. MAUTI:  I did not go back to confirm the actual in-service for each of those projects to confirm they were done within a year.  We do put that in there just to avoid the -- or to ensure that, you know, project organizations complete these within a reasonable period of time.  We felt if we didn't put a time frame in there they would just tend to naturally just lag.

Depending on the kind of a project it is in order to assess benefits you often might need a full cycle of operations, which may take an entire year of operation and completion of the report, so oftentimes it may take a little longer than a year, but again, it would be depending on the importance of having to let that project operate within an environment just so you can assess properly the benefits.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And can you talk a little bit how the lessons learned from these PIRs are cascaded down to the business units?

MS. SPOEL:  Right.  Before --


MS. GRICE:  Oh, sorry.

MS. SPOEL:  -- Ms. Grice, while we're just on this page, the budget that you have listed here for each of these items, would that be the original budget or would that be a budget that might have been adjusted through the completion of the kind of form with an update to the business case or the kinds of forms that you had in -- on page 33 of this document?  Is that original budget or is that adjusted as you go along budget?

MR. MAUTI:  I would probably have to go back to confirm, so I don't want to try to speculate whether it was the original BCS or whether -- if there was the need for an amended amount for this -- or variance or a variance change form, if this reflects the updated budget.  Again, that's something I should be able to clarify --


MS. SPOEL:  If you could find that out for us that would be great.  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  We'll give that an undertaking, Ms. Spoel?

MS. SPOEL:  Yes, please.

MR. MILLAR:  J7.5. 
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.5:  TO ADVISE WHETHER, RE:  THE BUDGET LISTED FOR EACH ITEM, WOULD THAT BE THE ORIGINAL BUDGET OR WOULD THAT BE A BUDGET THAT MIGHT HAVE BEEN ADJUSTED THROUGH THE COMPLETION OF THE KIND OF FORM WITH AN UPDATE TO THE BUSINESS CASE OR THE KINDS OF FORMS ON PAGE 33 OF THIS DOCUMENT; IN OTHER WORDS, IS THAT THE ORIGINAL BUDGET OR IS THAT ADJUSTED AS YOU GO ALONG BUDGET.

MS. SPOEL:  Sorry to interrupt you, Ms. Grice --


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  No, thank you --


MS. SPOEL:  -- rather than coming back to it later.  Thank you.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.

So I was just asking a question on, if you could just explain how the lessons learned from these post-implementation reviews are typically cascaded down to the nuclear business units?

MR. MAUTI:  Well, the execution of the PIR often involves people within each of the organizations, whether it's nuclear, hydroelectric, or elsewhere.  The project organizations that exist -- and there's separate ones within the organization now.  There is an initiative to try to put all project organizations under one umbrella going forward, but the results of the PIR are shared with those individual project organizations.  Each of them have forums to discuss projects and evaluate projects, and part of what they do is they take the results of the PIRs, the lessons learned, components from that, and ensure they are circulated to the people within those projects, organizations.

MS. GRICE:  And if there were projects -- let me say this right -- project control issues that would apply to the entire organization, is there a mechanism to disseminate that information through the organization?

MR. MAUTI:  Again, similarly, all issues with the projects that are identified would be equally communicated to all projects organizations.  So if there is a project controls issue that exists on one side of the house that could possibly apply to the other side, that information again would be shared.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  And when we talked earlier about the audit and risk committee, and the internal audit group and nuclear oversight group, are any of these projects ever the subject of an internal audit?

MR. MAUTI:  I know, for example, when there's process audits that the nuclear oversight group does, they may include Darlington refurbishment, as an example.  They may not be excluded from the scope of the work.

Are you asking if there is a specific project audit on one of these projects themselves, an internal?

MS. GRICE:  No, just generally.  Just say the circumstances of the project go beyond what can be captured or figured out in a project implementation form, or a comprehensive implementation review.

Is there another step if you need to look at things in more detail, in a different way, that they would become the subject of an internal audit?

MR. MAUTI:  It would depend on what kinds of concerns or risks may be identified.  The audit and risk committee can ask for the internal auditor to do a review of anything in their purview that they feel is at risk.

So if there was something specific, it was obviously anything to do with fraud or anything like that, that an audit committee may ask for specific review, whether it’s of an individual vendor or project, or anything like that.

So there would be the ability, depending on obviously the audit committee's understanding or knowledge of an issue within a project, that they could ask the internal auditor do a specific review of one of those projects.

MS. GRICE:  Are you aware of any projects that have been the subject of an internal audit in, say, the last year?

MR. MAUTI:  I'm trying to think.  We don't necessarily see everything that the internal auditor may be looking at.

There are instances where obviously the audit committee and the internal auditor go in camera specifically to ask for things to be done.  But from my direct knowledge, I can't think of anything where the audit group or audit and risk committee specifically said I want you to go look at this project specifically.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  I have, I think, I have only five minutes left.

MS. LONG:  That's fine.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  I have a few questions about the Niagara tunnel project.  And I'm not looking at the project specifics; I'm looking more at the process and what was followed there.

So on page 39 of my compendium, it states down at the bottom -- and this is SEC interrogatory 21:
"Since 2005, the Niagara tunnel project is the only capital project that OPG's regulated facilities with a cost greater than 250 million dollars."

And if we turn the page, there is information at part D that the capital cost variance was 479 million.  And if we turn the page to part I, the schedule variance was two years and 9 months.

So in terms of a comprehensive implementation review, which is -- we've talked briefly about that you would typically undertake that on complex projects.  And my understanding is you recently filed the project implementation review on the Niagara tunnel in December or January of 2016 or early 2017; that's when we received the implementation review?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe it was completed in November and, I think, filed in December.  But yes, that's about right in terms of timing.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So I just had a couple of questions about that.  So the project went in-service in March 2013.  And then you filed a post implementation review almost four years later.

Was there -- was your initial intent to get that done in a shorter time frame?

MR. FRALICK:  The post implementation review for the Niagara tunnel project was largely completed well in advance of this date.

However, we had an outstanding WSIB claim that prevented us from finalizing the report, so it existed in draft for quite a while.  But it was -- like we had certainly looked at the lessons learned.  In fact, I believe that in the Darlington evidence, it talks to the incorporation of lessons learned from Niagara tunnel into that project, and that certainly happened well in advance of the date of the PIR.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.  If we can turn to page 43 of the compendium.  So in January -- sorry, the project went into service in March 2013, and in your project execution plan that was updated and filed in January of 2013, you talk about it at item number 20.9 that the intent at that time was to complete a project completion report.  And you list there a bunch of things you're going to include in the project completion report.

There were specific questions that you were going to answer, and I guess my question is:  When we asked for this project completion report, your response was that that was done.  But that's essentially just a documentation of the drawings and the project components that instead of doing the project completion report, you rolled that over into the post implementation review.

Do I have that understanding correct, that you actually didn't do this project completion review in this way?  By that, I mean the specific questions weren't laid out in a document and a response provided?

MR. MAUTI:  I personally am not familiar as to whether a project completion report itself was done.  We have processes to ensure that we get the project in service from a financial -- from an accounting point of view, to make sure it's available and in service.

I would have to see whether a specific completion report was done, or they were both rolled into a post implementation review report, since a lot of those same lessons learned and other aspects would be covered within a PIR.  But I don't know -- am not a hundred percent sure whether that was done or not.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And maybe you can't answer this question, but in the post implementation review report that was filed in December on the Niagara tunnel project, were these questions answered?  Were they answered in that report?

MR. MAUTI:  I have not gone through -- this is the first I've really been looking at these questions, so I've never tried to correlate the questions within this report with what was actually answered in the PIR.  So I don't know.

MS. GRICE:  Is that something I should ask a future panel?

MR. SMITH:  I'm looking at page 45 of AMPCO's compendium, and there was a question, I believe, that asked about the project completion report which was provided.  And then there's an indication that the format differed and the lessons learned in project controls were included, or would be included in the post implementation review.

So maybe I'm not -- or I'm missing the thread of my friend's question.

MS. GRICE:  Well, the response does say that the project completion report differed from what was contemplated here under 20.9.  So I was just asking whether or not the questions that are here, in OPG's view, if they've been answered in the implementation review for the project.

MR. SMITH:  Well, and that's what the question indicates that they would be included in the post-implementation review, and I think the answer then is simply a comparison of the post-implementation review to the form of the questions that are listed on page 43.  I don't have that document.  Maybe it's in my friend's compendium, but --


MS. LONG:  Ms. Grice, are you asking if the questions on page 43 are contained in the post-implementation review contained at page 47 for which we have the table of contents and the executive summary --


MS. GRICE:  Yes, that's right, yes --


MS. LONG:  -- is that the question?

MS. GRICE:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  And do these witnesses know?

MR. MAUTI:  I do not --


MS. LONG:  You don't know.  Okay.

Just before you go on, I'm sorry, Mr. Fralick, I didn't understand your evidence.  Ms. Grice asked you why it took almost four years for this report at page 47 to be filed and your response was it was due to a claim?

MR. FRALICK:  Yes, as I understand it, there was an outstanding WSIB claim for, I guess, an injury that occurred on the project, and that would typically be information that you would contain in the post-implementation review in terms of how things went and --


MS. LONG:  And that was in respect of one individual?

MR. FRALICK:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  And so the report was held for four years until that was...

MR. FRALICK:  Oh, I don't know the --


MS. LONG:  Is that your understanding?

MR. FRALICK:  -- specifics of the incident, so we would have to follow up --


MS. LONG:  I don't want you to get into the specifics of the incident --


MR. FRALICK:  I don't -- yeah --


MS. LONG:  -- obviously --


MR. FRALICK:  -- I don't know them --


MS. LONG:  -- but as I look through this report, I mean, I see health and safety, I see safety maybe being three or four pages of this report.  So I'm just wondering why it would take that long or that a redacted version wouldn't have been filed, or was that contemplated?

MR. FRALICK:  I don't know.  I would have to --


MS. LONG:  You don't know?

MR. FRALICK:  -- follow up.

MS. LONG:  And was it circulated internally so that the lessons could have been learned within the company during that time?

MR. FRALICK:  Yes, so as I believe -- is it -- there's another interrogatory reference here where the lessons learned from the Niagara tunnel project were incorporated into the Darlington refurbishment project well in advance of the PIR for the Niagara tunnel project being completed.

MR. PUGH:  That's at page 41 of the compendium --


MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MR. PUGH:  -- at the bottom.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I just wanted to further explain, the reason I was asking some of the questions about this report and the lessons learned and, you know, how they were shared within the organization is, when you look under project controls -- and this is at page 61 of the compendium.  And again, we spent some time this morning with Mr. Roberts talking about the important part of the execution phase now is the ability to do the work and manage the work.

And what strikes me about the lessons learned for the Niagara tunnel project is there are only four lessons learned under project controls.  And it just strikes me -- it just -- it makes me want to just ask the question, is this everything, or were there additional project controls?  Lessons learned?


And it mentions at that page I took you to with the questions that were in the Niagara tunnel project execution plan at the very bottom of that page, so this is page 43 of my compendium, it says at the very bottom there:

"The OR project controls manager will document all project controls issues arising from the management of the project, including cost scope and schedule variances."

So I just want to confirm that there were four, that that's the extent of the lessons learned for project control?

MR. FRALICK:  I'm not aware of there being other lessons learned that were not included in the PIR.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  And I have one last unrelated question to anything that I've previously been talking about, and it's provided at page 66 of my compendium.  And the -- we asked an interrogatory around OPG's evidence that states that:

"In the first quarter of 2014 the OSC approved an exemption which allows OPG to apply U.S. GAAP up to January 1st, 2019."

And I just wondered if OPG has an update on any requirements around reporting in this way, if that's anything -- if you can provide an update on this?

MR. MAUTI:  No update, other than the answer to the Board Staff Interrogatory No. 2, which you have on this page 67 and 68, are the conditions and the situation has not changed from the answer to this interrogatory back in October.

MS. GRICE:  So it's OPG's intent as described in Part B of Board Staff's interrogatory, which is on the last page of my compendium, page 68, that:

"OPG has not assessed the potential rate-setting impact of IFRS during the IR term and that, should OPG be required to adopt IFRS, OPG would bring the matter to the OEB's attention."

So I just want to confirm this isn't an issue that OPG is planning to bring to the midterm review?

MR. MAUTI:  No, the -- I believe the scope of the midterm review that at least we have proposed would not have this.  There would probably be an update, since that is happening at the early part of 2019.  There would obviously be some update to provide to that, since the existing OSC exemption we have to continue to use U.S. GAAP expires at the start of 2019, but there are many different avenues or ways that this can progress going into the future, not the least of which could be the International Accounting Standards Board after landing on a standard for rate-regulated entities, except that has been an ongoing project for upwards of ten years now.  And I'm not sure if there is necessarily a finish line in sight for that one.


Our intent would be to continue to remain reporting on U.S. GAAP throughout the entire IR term.  If that were to be something that we could not do, then there would be significant impacts likely that we would bring forward to the OEB at that time.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. LONG:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.

That concludes cross-examination for today.  The Panel is going to use the remainder of the day to review the evidence that was filed last night.  We would like to take some time to go through that.

Looking at my schedule for tomorrow, it looks like the IESO witness is going to be on at one o'clock.  But this panel, we will continue with cross-examination starting at 10:30.  So that's a bit of a later start, based on -- I am assuming everyone has confirmed their times with Ms. Binette, and it looks, working backwards from the lunch break, that we will start at 10:30.  So I will hold people to their times given, that we're starting late tomorrow.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:46 p.m.
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